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PRESIDENT’S REPORT
Kathleen McGarvey OLA

AMRI, as a body of leaders of religious and missionaries in Ireland, allows us to  
better respond to existing and emerging realities both in Ireland and overseas and to  
energise our life and ministries with a renewed sense of hope and relevance. In these 
challenging times of both crisis and opportunity, the need for a body such as AMRI cannot  
be underestimated. 

This past twelve months, we have continued to live the 
anxiety, fear, grief, deaths, travel restrictions, vaccination 
roll-out, online ministries and meetings, and all associated 
with living with the pandemic. As a country and world 
this year, we have been affected by issues such as Brexit, 
instability in Northern Ireland, the end of the Trump 
era in the US, ongoing conflict and violence in Nigeria, 
Myanmar, Tigray, South Sudan and other places where our 
members live and work; life-threatening environmental 
crises such as the recent earthquake in Haiti; the very 
serious instability and suffering in Afghanistan. These 
months also brought the Historical Institutional Abuse 
Inquiry Report from Northern Ireland, the Mother and 
Baby Homes Commission Report in the Republic, the 
pains and controversaries associated with Adoptions in 
the past, and ongoing revelations of abuse within religious 
run institutions. Our Churches have remained closed or 
restricted, and the Irish government has taken upon itself 
the role of dictating when sacraments can or cannot be 
administered. All of this is disheartening and as institutes 
of Religious Life it can become even more so when 
looked at from the perspective of our declining numbers, 
rising age profile, and increasingly negative media image. 
However, as people called by God and committed to the 
Good News of the Gospel, we know that “the history of 
salvation is worked out ‘in hope against hope’ (Rom 4:18), 
through our weaknesses” (Pope Francis, Patris Corde, Dec 
2020, n. 2).

In his letter for the year of St Joseph, Pope Francis 
reminds us that “All too often, we think that God works 
only through our better parts, yet most of his plans are 
realized in and despite our frailty. Thus, Saint Paul could 
say: “To keep me from being too elated, a thorn was given 
me in the flesh, ... Three times I appealed to the Lord 
about this, that it would leave me, but he said to me: ‘My 
grace is sufficient for you, for power is made perfect in 
weakness’” (2 Cor 12:7-9).” (Pope Francis, Patris Corde, 
Dec 2020, n. 2). 

Weakness reminds us of our dependence on God, 
who is always faithful. Religious life is not something we 
ourselves created; it is founded and built on a call, to love 
God above all else, to serve God in our neighbour and 
to be a sign and instrument of God’s love and fidelity to 
the world. Although today our numbers are declining and 
our institutions are greatly reduced, it is with God’s grace, 
in faith, hope and humility, that we continue forward in 
fidelity to the Gospel, our mission and our respective 
charisms. As Archbishop Dermot Farrell said recently 
in an interview, “Crisis demands creativity. This time of 
reduced numbers may well afford us an opportunity to 
be creative and to re-imagine the institutional church. We 
have not been abandoned by God; God is to be found in 
this situation. Let us not look back to our own experience 
of the Church of our youth but look ahead to the Church 
in which we will minister and worship in the years ahead.” 
(Interview with Siolta, August 2021). 

The words Synod and Synodality have gained new 
prominence, especially in the Church, and this in itself 
is an expression of hope and commitment, an intent to 
listen - to God and to each other, as the Spirit speaks to 
and through each of us in these times of challenge and 
call. This is not a time for any of us to close the curtain 
and prepare to be extinguished; rather, it is a time to 
open wide our windows, our doors, and our hearts, so 
that the Spirit who blows where she wills can bring new 
and renewed life to our world and to the Church, in 
obedience to the Will of God.

Throughout this past year, our fourth as an organization, 
and building on the solid foundations that were put in 
place over the previous three years, AMRI has indeed 
sought to help us, as religious and missionaries in Ireland, 
to be renewed in our sense of hope and relevance and to 
respond to the realities before us. A lot has been achieved, 
as we can read in this Annual Report, and this is due to 
the action of the Spirit among us. It is also due to the 

trust of the members who continue to pay subscription 
fees, and to the commitment and competence of all 
those engaged in it, primarily our Secretary General, Mr 
David Rose, the members of the Executive Council, our 
staff, our Committee members, and all our collaborators 
and friends. For all we have lived and achieved this year, 
we are indeed grateful. 

During COVID
Until just a few weeks ago, the AMRI office was closed 
but activities continued thanks to the possibilities 
provided by modern technology. David, who began in 
this role just one year ago, had to primarily work from 
home as did our other staff. Despite many new staff 
being recruited this year and all working remotely, they 
have succeeded in building up a very positive team spirit 
both among themselves and with the AMRI Executive. 
The AMRI Executive met online monthly and indeed 
more often as necessity demanded, and Committees also 
met regularly. As the body of AMRI Members, we have 
probably had more meetings together this year than in 
any other year, again due to the possibilities of technology, 
and we believe this has helped us grow in our spirit of 
community and shared mission. We thank everyone for 
their commitment, cooperation, and support, and entrust 
all our efforts into the Lord’s hands.

Collaboration with the IEC in the area of 
Safeguarding, Healing and Peace
We are very grateful to the four Archbishops with 
whom we have met regularly (online), and to the Papal 
Nuncio to Ireland, for all their help and support. Through 
my experience over these past years, I see a great 
willingness and desire to work together more closely, as 
men and women in the Church, in greater fidelity to the 
Gospel. I am very hopeful that we are moving, even if 
in small steps, towards that more inclusive Community 
we seek. We hope this relationship with the hierarchy 
might become one of ever greater synodal dialogue in 
shared leadership and vision for and with the committed 
Christian community in Ireland.

With the IEC, we have looked especially at our response as 
Church in Ireland to the whole area of child safeguarding 
and all related to that, past and present, to ensure it is 
at all times of the highest standard. A lot of work this 
past year was put into planning an independent Strategic 
Review of Safeguarding in the Catholic Church in Ireland, 
and we hope this Review will be allowed to begin in the 
very near future. We have also begun investigations on 
our shared response to the safeguarding of Vulnerable 
Adults, and work on this will continue during the next 
months. A joint working group with the IEC examined 
recent international safeguarding reports including the 
IISCA Report (Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual 

Abuse, in the UK) and the McCarrick Report, to learn 
lessons for the Irish Church.

During these past twelve months, matters relating to 
Towards Healing have continued to take up much of our 
agenda. As we all know, Towards Healing is providing a 
very important, valuable, and necessary service for us, 
as a counselling and support service to bring healing to 
survivors of institutional, clerical and religious abuse in 
Ireland. We recognise the great work done by Abbot 
Richard Purcell and the new Board over this past year and 
appreciate the accountability and transparency in all our 
communications with them in recent times. We received 
a report of the Evaluation of Counselling and Support 
Services Provided, which was done by Dr Finian Fallon; 
we have been updated by the Board on the company 
restructuring in terms of organization and operation; 
we have been presented with the new strategic plan; 
and we are discerning the financial implications for us, 
as we seek to ensure a sustainable service, according to 
our possibilities as a Church. Our increased solidarity 
as Religious is called for, in recognition of the need for 
this service which is an inherent part of our ministry of 
healing in Ireland today.

We are very grateful to those who accepted to be 
Members or Directors of the three relevant Boards, 
namely Coimirce (the NBSCCCI), Towards Healing and 
Towards Peace, a silent toiling but one that is essential 
and highly valuable. May our committed efforts ensure 
that truth and justice are at all times upheld, that the 
path towards reparation and healing are followed, and 
that leadership and ministry today are Gospel-centred 
and of the highest standard. 

AMRI Strategic Plan
Much progress has been made this year in the 
implementation of other areas of our Strategic Plan, and 
I will leave it to David to expand on that in his report. 
I take this opportunity to welcome all our new staff 
recruited this year : Helena Connolly as Communications 
Coordinator, Toni Pyke as our Justice, Peace and Integrity 
of Creation Coordinator, Anne Donnellan as Office 
Administrator, Margaret Cartwright in Vocations Ireland 
which is now part of AMRI, and Sr Jennifer Burke recently 
appointed to join the team in RFMP. These have all 
joined the team only this year, and work to realise our 
strategic plan together with David our Secretary General, 
Sr Eithne Woulfe our Education Coordinator, Fidelma 
Mallon our Financial Administrator, Sandra Neville who 
has looked after Garda vetting, Sr Josephine Enenmo the 
newly appointed Director of RFMP and Fr Joe McGee, a 
member of the formation team in RFMP. Sandra is leaving 
us this year and Sr Eithne will move from being a staff 
member to a volunteer ; to both we express our sincere 
thanks and best wishes.
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conversation be expanded, so that it includes all women 
religious, and that it also includes the IEC.  

To expand the conversation to include the voices and 
experiences of all women religious around the country, 
we will invite the provincial/regional leaders to engage 
with their Sisters and will ask Maria Garvey to train some 
facilitators to help with this engagement. To expand the 
conversation with the Bishops, we have invited the IEC, 
through the Archbishops, to a facilitated meeting which 
we hope will be held before the end of this year 2021. 
We have suggested that this include a representative 
group of about ten women religious (including from the 
AMRI Executive as well as some other leaders) and a 
representative group of Bishops, who will sit together in 
dialogue to share on what we have discussed so far, to 
share on our vision for the Church into the future, and 
to see together how a new inclusive model of Church 
might be realised. 

We recognise that we are all in a synodal process at this 
time, and that the voices of hierarchy, religious (male 
and female), and laity will be listened to, as one. We 
believe this conversation which we are proposing will be 
beneficial to this overall process.

The Executive Council
I thank very sincerely all the members of the AMRI 
Executive. This commitment which we were asked to 
assume is time-consuming and each member of the 
Executive has been truly committed and dedicated.  It has 
been a great privilege to work with you and I have been 
inspired, taught, and guided by you throughout these 
years. Together we have journeyed through the ups and 
downs of the whole complex process of bringing IMU 
and CORI together and forming this new organization 
AMRI, working tirelessly to bring it to where it is today. 
We have come to know each other well and have truly 
worked together as a Team, each one bringing his or her 
strengths, experience, gifts, and expertise, developing a 
friendship and a bond that will not be forgotten. 

This year, due to various circumstances, including the fact 
that some Chapters were postponed, seven members of 
the present Executive Council have fully completed two 
terms of office, and hence now retire from the Board. An 
eighth member is also resigning for health reasons. This is 
quite a serious change on any Board at any one time, but 
it was unavoidable. We are confident however that the 
foundations have been laid, AMRI as an organization is on 
solid ground, a very good staff and structure is in place, 
four Executive Council Members continue, and together 
with the new AMRI Executive Council members they will, 
please God, not have any major difficulty in continuing to 
steer the ship. Indeed, they will no doubt bring the new 
vision and energy that is now required as AMRI journeys 
onwards. 

Expression of Thanks
To each member of the Executive Council, I am sincerely 
grateful. John Hennebry OSA, Tom O’Connor SPS, Aidan 
McGrath OFM, Edmund Garvey CFC, Rita Kelly MMM, 
Sally Roddy VC, Evelyn Greene CHF, and myself all retire 
from the Executive today. To each one I am sincerely 
grateful. Special thanks to Fr John Hennebry who has 
been Vice President these years, my very reliable right-
hand man! Thank you to Paula Molloy MSHR, Mary 
Hanrahan PBVM, Brendan Coffey OSB, and Timothy 
Lehane SVD, who will continue forward with the new 
Executive members to be elected today.

I again express my thanks to David, with whom it has 
genuinely been a pleasure to work. Over these past 
twelve months David has truly come to grips with the 
many responsibilities of his role as Secretary General; his 
professionalism, gentle nature, and total commitment are 
inspiring. Thank you David. May God continue to guide 
you. Thank you again to all our AMRI staff, the Committee 
Members, and Nicola, our Company Secretary, with 
whom it has also been a pleasure to work. All generously 
give of their time and service to ensure that AMRI 
becomes ever more a vibrant and prophetic voice in our 
Church and society. Thank you.

Thank you to all our members and collaborators for your 
support. Together may we maintain alive our hope and 
be authentic witnesses of the joy of the Gospel in Ireland 
and in the world today.

Kathleen McGarvey OLA 
President AMRI, September 2021

Our staff are very much supported by our AMRI 
members, by the Executive Council and by various 
Committees, all of which are listed in this Report.  Other 
individuals and groups worked this year on making 
various submissions and statements on behalf of AMRI 
on relevant issues throughout the year. People generously 
provided support and advice when requested for 
particularly difficult and painful situations which some of 
our member institutes are facing at this time and whom 
AMRI wishes to accompany in whatever way we can. To 
everyone who provided these and many other services 
to and through AMRI, we are grateful, and we pray it has 
been of assistance to all concerned.

The strategic plan was developed three years ago, and 
hence this year it was reviewed. Thanks to Lucy Franks 
for doing this review for us and to all our members 
who responded to the questionnaire and agreed to be 
interviewed. We will study the outcome of that review 
more closely this afternoon and pray this will help us 
orientate AMRI for the next three years so that we as 
the body of religious and missionaries in Ireland can be 
faithful to the mission entrusted to us at this time. 

As I said last year, I firmly believe that the establishment 
of AMRI was timely and prophetic, as if we truly wish 
to respond with courage and confidence in a missionary 
and prophetic manner to existing and emerging realities 
both in Ireland and overseas, we must strengthen 
our collaboration and our solidarity as Religious and 
Missionaries in Ireland. I believe that can best be done 
through this body. To all our staff, and to the members 
of all AMRI Committees and Working Groups, we are 
immensely grateful.

Structures in the Service of Mission
With the help of the Governance Committee and Nicola 
Keogh, our Company Secretary, we have initiated a very 
necessary conversation on our structures as religious 
institutes today. As we know, in its essence, religious life is 
a form of discipleship, a way of following in the footsteps 
of Jesus, a way of continuing his mission on this earth, 
by our way of living, by our prayer, by our apostolic and 
missionary activities. In Ireland, today, many of us in roles 
of leadership and responsibility are finding it increasingly 
difficult to live out this essence: we find ourselves having 
to spend more and more time in administrative matters 
that keep us tied to the office. These duties are time-
consuming and often dispiriting and de-energising. Over 
the past two years or more, as Charities, we have been 
tasked with becoming compliant with the requirements 
of the Charities Regulatory Authority. While we recognise 
the need for good governance, for transparency and 
accountability, we also recognise the burden of it all.  

The AMRI Executive has reflected on ways to relieve 
this burden that so many of its members are carrying. 
Out of this came the idea of exploring alternative ways 
of exercising governance and leadership, especially in 
those areas where compliance with civil law has become 
necessary and very demanding. While seeking at all 
times to respect the canonical integrity and autonomy 
of life of each religious institute, large or small, we have 
begun a conversation about seeking alternative models, 
with the hope and aim that such models will help relieve 
leadership at all levels of some of the burdens associated 
with governance in order to free them and all the 
members of their congregations and societies to devote 
themselves more fully to mission. The first webinar with 
presentations by Aidan McGrath OFM, Brendan Coffey 
OSB and solicitor Nicola Keogh, was well attended and 
much appreciated, and another is soon planned to carry 
this conversation forward. 

Conversation on the Experience of 
Women Religious in the Church
A second very necessary and important conversation was 
also initiated this year, namely around the Experience of 
Women Religious in the Church in Ireland. The initiative 
for this conversation arose from a dialogue held during 
a meeting of the four Archbishops and AMRI Officers 
regarding the hurt, pain and marginalisation sometimes 
expressed by religious women in the church, referring 
both to the past, and to today. It was acknowledged 
that it is important for all of us, religious women as well 
as hierarchy and wider church and society, that these 
ideas/feelings might be clarified, and any hurts identified, 
acknowledged, and addressed. It is also important that 
we share on our positive experiences as religious women 
and that we propose together a more meaningful and 
inclusive way of being the community of disciples which 
we all as Church are called to be and indeed dream of 
being. 

Three meetings were held, very ably facilitated by 
Maria Garvey, and in which a good number of women 
religious leaders or their representatives participated. 
The opportunity to converse among ourselves on this 
issue was very much appreciated. The participants found 
it immensely valuable to talk of the hurt, pain and sense of 
exclusion they have experienced over the years as women 
religious in the Church, and many concrete experiences 
of these were shared. There is a very strong desire among 
the women religious to move forward and look at where 
we can go as Church. The words spoken by Archbishop 
Dermot Farrell in a recent homily about a new model of 
Church being needed, one that is inclusive of everyone, 
resonated very much with the hopes expressed by the 
women religious, and this is a model of Church we would 
all wish to work towards, together. The desire is that this 



Collaborating and Connecting
• Irish Episcopal Conference
• National Board for Safeguarding 

Children in the Catholic Church 
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• Towards Peace
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of Apostolic Life

• Misean Cara

• Union of the European 
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England and Wales

• Missio Ireland
AMRI Executive Council 
Front row left to right: Abbot Brendan Coffey OSB, Sr Kathleen McGarvey OLA (President) Sr Evelyn Greene CHF,  
Sr Rita Kelly MMM, Ms Sally Roddy. 
Back row left to right: Sr Mary Hanrahan PBVM, Fr John Hennebry OSA (Vice President), Fr Timothy Lehane SVD,  
Fr Aidan McGrath OFM, Sr Paula Molloy MSHR, Fr Thomas O’Connor SPMS, Br Edmund Garvey CFC.
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AMRI MEMBERS
Leaders of Missionaries and 

 Religious of Ireland

OUR AIMS:
1. Gospel Leadership - high standards of governance and leadership

2. Mission and Dialogue - open to new models of mission and inter-
religious dialogue

3. Justice, Peace and Integrity of Creation - awareness raising, action for 
justice and sustainable living

4. Healing, Wellbeing and Wholeness - fostering pastoral responses in 
areas of need

Covid
Working
Group

Secretary
General &

Staff

Action to 
Prevent 

Trafficking

Assoc. of 
Bursars of 
Religious 
Ireland

Justice, Peace 
and Integrity 
of Creation

Education

Religious 
Formation 
Ministry 

Programme

Communications

MISSION 
AND MINISTRY 

- LIVING  
THE GOSPEL

1
5

5
 

M

e
m b e r s  o

f  A
M

R
I

A
M

R
I

 
E

x e c u t i v e  C
o

u
n

c
i

l

Finance  
& Risk

Management

Lay
Mission

Vocations
Ireland

Governance 
& HR



8 9

AMRI ANNUAL REPORT 2020 – 2021

8 9

GOSPEL LEADERSHIP: 
AMRI is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards 
of leadership in corporate governance through leading by example and 
laying solid foundations for management and oversight by:

• Advocating ethical and responsible decision making 

• Promoting integrity of financial reporting 

• Ensuring the highest standards of professional conduct for the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults

• Supporting the leadership development of its members through programmes, 
conferences, seminars and workshops relevant to emerging issues of the time

• Facilitating conversations and consultative processes on collaboration for mission 
and community

• Promoting the development of vocations to religious life and lay ministry in the 
mission of the Church at home and abroad

• Encouraging historical research and archiving among its members

MISSION AND DIALOGUE:
Inspired by the Gospel and by Church teaching, AMRI as a centre for 
mission and dialogue will:

• Engage with existing and emerging realities in the Church and wider society

• Be open and receptive to evolving understandings of mission at  
home and abroad

• Encourage leaders in their ongoing commitment to nurture active ministry  
in diverse situations

• Foster mission and dialogue with the Irish Episcopal Conference (IEC), relevant 
Church bodies and associated agencies

• Collaboratively facilitate the faith formation of leaders within Catholic linked 
educational settings/groupings and establishments with a particular emphasis on 
service, theological reflection and ethical analysis

• Advocate and facilitate among its members a culture conducive to listening, 
reflecting, collaborating and responding for the common good

• Extend the hand of friendship and communion through its promotion of inter-
religious and inter-cultural dialogue

JUSTICE, PEACE, 
AND INTEGRITY OF CREATION:
AMRI is an active voice which raises awareness and facilitates pastoral 
responses to situations concerning justice, peace and the integrity of 
creation. Together with NGO’s and Civil Society, nationally, in the first 
instance and internationally thereafter, AMRI in seeking to proclaim and live 
the Gospel prophetically, will:

• Work collaboratively on emerging Social Justice issues, in ministering and responding to 
the marginalised in society

• Be a gatherer and a unifying voice in advocating especially for refugees and migrants, 
homeless, the trafficked and exploited people

• Foster a vision of hope and a meaningful reality that reflects the interface between the 
sciences, humanities and faith

• Work collectively to promote care for our fragile earth, our ‘common home’

HEALING WELLBEING WHOLENESS:
AMRI fosters and facilitates strategic and collaborative pastoral responses 
in key areas of need for its member organisations and their associated 
ministries. Through collaboration, partnerships and co-sponsorships, AMRI 
will:

•  Enable the members to keep vigil with current and emerging areas in need of healing, 
wellbeing and wholeness, through observation of best practice, shared information and 
policy implementation

• Offer information on accompaniment, companionship, co-sponsorship, retreats and 
spiritual wellbeing

• Encourage and support its leaders in ongoing processes of reconciliation, healing and 
acknowledgement of failures to fully live the Gospel 

• Be a voice prioritising a health and wellbeing approach towards all, with particular 
reference to returned missionaries, care for the carers, and those of advancing years

• Explore and facilitate shared systems of inter congregational care for ageing members

• Promote a culture of celebration of the past and inspire hope for the future
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SECRETARY GENERAL’S  
OVERVIEW 
David Rose: Secretary General, AMRI

This is a moment to dream big, to rethink our priorities – what we value, what we want, what 
we seek – and to commit to act in our daily life on what we have dreamed of. Let us dare to 
dream  (Pope Francis, Prologue to Let Us Dream). 

This is my first annual report as the new Secretary 
General. Thank you for the very warm welcome I 
received and for your prayers and support as I learn 
my way into the role. My reason for applying for the 
role, was based on knowing the impressive contribution 
religious and missionaries make by living the Gospel and 
collaborating with people on the margins to work for 
justice and to care for the Earth. It is a great privilege to 
share with you in this mission. 

New beginnings are always about hopes and dreams 
for the future. My hope for AMRI, which is still quite 
young, is that building on a solid foundation of good 
governance, it will continue to flourish as a leadership 
and representative organisation. Developing capacity 
for leadership as holding and implementing vision is so 
important in this time of profound change and transition, 
within society and within individual congregations. 

Service, systemic change and collaboration rooted in 
a faith that seeks justice, are the hallmarks of AMRI’s 
work. We are better together. AMRI working with our 
membership can add value through pooling resources, 
sharing ideas, and drawing on the wealth of experience 
and wisdom that is generously shared by our members. 

We are living through an unprecedented and unparalleled 
time due to Covid 19. The virus has brought profound 
changes to how we live now. It has impacted communities 
locally and globally. I extend my sincere condolences to 
congregations who lost members. 

The question is whether you’re going to come through 
this crisis and if so, how. The basic rule of a crisis is that 
you don’t come out of it the same. If you get through 
it, you come out better or worse, but never the same 
(Pope Francis, Let Us Dream).

Our hope and fervent desire is that we will come out 
better. This prompts us to ask what will be different? 
What choices can we make that will make the difference? 
Crises by their nature are overwhelming and test us to 
our limits. They force us to reflect on what really matters. 
They reveal the core of who we are as we seek to 
respond above and beyond the normal boundaries that 
can hem us in. They can move us to a space where God’s 
grace can enter our lives in new ways … “whose power, 
working in us, can do infinitely more than we can ask or 
imagine” (Ephesians 3:20). 

AMRI, as a leadership, support and representative 
organisation, has tried over this past year to face the 
challenge of these crises among our members and 
beyond. Covid has set the context and changed how we 
worked. However, it has not defined or deterred us from 
our core mission: to offer leadership and be of service to 
our members in building the kingdom of God. 

Covid
In response to Covid, we set up a working group and 
a helpline staffed by Sandra Neville to offer accurate 
information and advice. We liaised with public health 
authorities to secure an early rollout of vaccines for at 
risk older religious in congregated settings. 

We provided webinars with Prof Luke O’Neill of Trinity 
College, who reminded us of the important link between 
faith and science and with Prof Ciaran O’Boyle of the 
Royal College of Surgeons Ireland on leadership and 
wellbeing. The first webinar included a beautiful prayerful 
remembrance service for our members who died from 
Covid. 

While over 80% of the Irish population is vaccinated; 
many poor countries struggle to access vaccines. AMRI is 

represented on the steering committee of the People’s 
Vaccine Alliance Ireland, a coalition of organisations 
seeking equitable global access to Covid-19 vaccines 
and medicines for all in the Global South. The fairest and 
most effective way to end the pandemic is to ensure that 
everyone, everywhere has access to vaccines. I believe 
that the crisis is generating a much greater awareness of 
the interconnectedness of all. 

Climate Change
Interconnectedness is essential to addressing the other 
global crisis namely climate change. Already we are 
witnessing the catastrophic effects of global warming in 
fires and drought; storms and floods. Those most affected 
by the climate crisis are the poor who least contribute 
to emissions. AMRI is a member of the Global Catholic 
Climate Movement, now called the Laudato Si Movement 
with 800 member organisations inspired by Pope 
Francis to address climate change. I am conscious that 
so many AMRI members have ministries on sustainable 
development, eco-spirituality and climate justice. How 
to tap this wisdom and experience to raise awareness 
and take action in this critical area? As a starting point, 
this year AMRI held a webinar for leaders and bursars 
focused on Divestment and Faith Aligned Investment.

AMRI People
This has been a year of quiet change and transformation 
in the AMRI office. We have recruited new staff: Helena 
Connolly in communications, Toni Pyke in justice, 
peace and integrity of creation, and Anne Donnellan 
in administration. We welcome Margaret Cartwright, 
director of Vocations Ireland now an integral part of 
AMRI; and Jennifer Burke RJM in the Religious Formation 
Ministry Programme (RFMP). They join our existing 
personnel Eithne Woulfe SSL in Education, Fidelma 
Mallon in Finance, Anne Kelleher and Liz Byrne IBVM 
in Action to Prevent Trafficking; and Josephine Enenmo 
OLA and Joseph McGee MSC in the Religious Formation 
Ministry Programme. 

Sr Eithne is taking up additional responsibilities on her 
leadership team but we are very grateful that she will 
maintain her role and connection with AMRI’s education 
work in a voluntary capacity. Sandra Neville is stepping 
down as Garda vetting liaison person. I wish to express 
our sincere thanks to her for her outstanding work in 
this area and on the Covid working group. I take this 
opportunity to welcome new staff to AMRI and to thank 
all our staff for their competence and commitment, and 
for the hope which they keep alive as they help us to 
proclaim and witness to the Good News.

The Executive Council has continued to meet monthly 

throughout the pandemic giving direction, leadership, 
advice, support and good governance to the organisation 
and to our membership. I am proud to say the Executive 
Council, Committee members and Staff all work together 
as a very committed team. 

Working remotely, we have maintained all of our core 
programmes under our aims of Gospel Leadership, 
Mission and Dialogue, Justice, Peace and Integrity of 
Creation and Healing and Wellbeing; and we have taken 
on new initiatives.

Our Work at a Glance
The following is a snapshot of our work; it gives a sense 
of the range and diversity of the issues in which AMRI is 
involved. More detail is provided later in the report on 
each of the programme areas. AMRI’s deep commitment 
to child safeguarding and healing of survivors has already 
been highlighted in the President’s address. 

Communications
The Communications office aims to improve our internal 
communications and also ensure that the prophetic voice 
of AMRI, and the religious and missionaries we represent, 
is heard externally. The Communications Committee is 
currently seeking advice about how we might best add 
our voices to the public narrative about religious life which 
dominates in our media today so that the good news 
story of who we are and what we do, both yesterday and 
today, is also told more loudly and clearly. 

Proclaiming good news is at the heart of our new 
communications programme. We need to proclaim that 
being kind, having faith, and working for the common good 
are great life goals that need courage and vigour (Pope 
Francis). We have improved communications with our 
members and introduced a revamped website and a new 
e-newsletter which enjoys a wide circulation beyond the 
membership. AMRI’s work has featured in the press in 
the Sunday Independent and the Irish Catholic. Our new 
communications coordinator Helena Connolly works 
across all of our programme areas providing technical 
support on Zoom.

Research and Policy
We published submissions and statements on: the Dying 
with Dignity Bill 2020; the translation of New Lectionary; 
the Synodal Pathway; the Mother and Baby Homes 
Reports, and the CDF’s note on blessing same sex unions. 
We have commissioned research on the experience of 
returned missionaries so that their views can influence 
how we are as Church. Thanks to the many religious who 
generously gave of their time and expertise in assisting 
with the drafting of these statements. 
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Justice, Peace and Integrity of Creation
The JPIC office aims to strengthen our collaboration as 
religious and missionaries in the promotion of justice, 
peace, and the integrity of creation. Through our 
increased awareness and our greater joining of hands in 
this shared mission, our voice can have greater impact. 
In our work for justice, peace and integrity of creation, 
we are encouraging divestment and ethical investment, 
promoting the Global Catholic Climate Campaign now 
known as the Laudato Si Movement and re-establishing 
the Africa Europe Faith and Justice Network. 

AMRI continue to raise awareness and lobby against 
human trafficking through Action to Prevent Trafficking 
(APT). Key highlights for APT were featuring on the Pat 
Kenny Newstalk Radio show which asked the question: 
“Is Sex Trafficking Hidden in plain sight?”; marking 8th 
February as International Day of Prayer and Awareness 
Against Human Trafficking; participating in the UN 
Commission for Status of Women (UN CSW65). APT 
is developing a new Human Trafficking Awareness-raising 
Education Programme for post-Primary schools called 
“cAPTives”.   

Vocations Ireland
In July 2021, following a process of discernment and due 
diligence by both organisations, Vocations Ireland joined 
AMRI. It is a merger that will enhance the capacity of both 
organisations. Key areas of current work for Vocations 
Ireland are: the Vocation Music Awards; a presence 
at Cop 26 in Glasgow; accompaniment workshops; 
psycho-sexual integration workshop; continued work 
of revisioning the role of brotherhood today; further 
development of Samuel groups; and the development of 
regional groups in Vocations Ireland 

Welcome Margaret Cartwright, Director of Vocations 
Ireland, to the team.

Education
In the field of Education many AMRI members were and 
still are engaged to one degree or another. An Education 
Committee was established this year to support the 
work of the Education Coordinator and to strengthen 
our collaboration in this field. Sr Eithne has also been our 
link to the North of Ireland and has been invaluable in 
her support of the congregations there who are more 
directly involved in the various enquiries of recent times. 
This year, due to increased responsibilities as a member 
of the SSL leadership team, Sr Eithne will resign as a 
staff member of AMRI but will continue to generously 
volunteer her services in so far as possible. To Eithne and 
to her congregation, we are sincerely grateful. We are 
sorry to lose her as a staff member but are happy that it 
is not goodbye! 

AMRI provides a service to its members through 
offering support, advice, information, and advocacy as 
needed. There has been the establishment of a new 
AMRI Education Committee with a particular focus 
on educational disadvantage and representation on 
various Catholic Education bodies. The Education focus 
going forward for AMRI is an invitation to engage anew 
in Mission and Dialogue with a particular remit for 
formation and dialogue between faith and culture and 
the promotion of invitational and vocational approaches 
among those involved in Education. It also is timely to 
renew a commitment to justice issues impacting on the 
educational outcomes for those of all ages currently 
marginalised by our systems. 

Religious Formation Ministry Programme 
Linked to the field of education is the Religious Formation 
Ministry Programme (Loreto House), which is also 
under the responsibility of AMRI and which provides 
a very valuable service of formation to members of 
our institutes, primarily from other countries who 
greatly appreciate the high standard of this intercultural 
experience. Due to lockdown the programme was not 
held this year, but it will resume in October with 15 
participants enrolled for 2021/22. We congratulate and 
thank Sr Josephine Enenmo, OLA, who was appointed 
Director of the RFMP in March 2021. Sr Josephine, with 
her team member, Fr Joe McGee MSC, has continued 
to work part-time during these months, keeping in 
contact with interested participants and attending to 
other ongoing responsibilities. A new staff member has 
recently been appointed, Sr Jennifer Burke RJM; we 
welcome her on board and wish her every blessing in 
this new endeavour. The RFMP Management Committee 
continues to support and assist the Director and staff. 

Lay Mission
The Lay Mission Committee continues to ensure stronger 
collaboration of religious and lay missionaries in the 
realization of our vision and mission. The presence of this 
committee within the structures of AMRI is highly valuable 
to help us open our tents as religious and grow in respect 
of and dialogue with the lay vocation in the mission of 
the Church. Much of the Committee’s efforts this year 
have concentrated on the path towards Synodality. The 
Committee organised a very well attended webinar, with 
Shane Halpin of Viatores Christi as speaker, to begin a 
process of engaging with laypeople in relation to the 
recently announced Synodal Pathway. The emphasis 
is on being a more inclusive Church and developing a 
national voice for laypeople. There are plans to further 
the conversation this year.

Mother and Baby Homes
The AMRI President and Secretary General met with 
the congregations involved in the Mother and Baby 
Homes, and met with Northern Ireland Executive. In a 
public statement we expressed our heartfelt sorrow and 
regret for the judgemental culture of secrecy and shame 
that pervaded society and Church, and that marginalised 
women and ran counter to the Gospel. 

Garda vetting
Garda vetting service is provided for 65 congregations, 
with almost 600 accessing the service this year. Due to 
other commitments, Sandra Neville has recently resigned 
from her role as AMRI person for Garda Vetting, and so to 
Sandra we express our sincere thanks for the wonderful 
services provided so competently and so generously, and 
we wish her every blessing as she moves on.

Minister for Religion Visas 
A Working Group was established to dialogue with the 
Department of Justice over the difficulties associated 
with acquiring Minister of Religion visas, and this is 
ongoing. There have been a number of zoom meetings to 
present our members’ concerns with officials as the Dept 
is reviewing the Minister of Religion scheme.

Coordinated Parish Promotions 
Programme (CPPP)
The CPPP is enables our missionaries to raise awareness 
of their work abroad in parishes in Ireland. It was put on 
hold due to the public health guidelines on Churches. 
The good news is that the Irish Episcopal Conference 
has given the go ahead for the programme to re-start in 
September 2021.

Finance
The Finance and Risk Committee continues to ensure 
all finances are carefully and transparently managed 
and works closely with our Finance Administrator, 
Fidelma Mallon. The challenge of decreasing membership 
subscriptions, based on our statistics, is always looming. 
Hence this Committee will help us seek other sources of 
funding beyond the subscriptions on which presently we 
are wholly reliant. ABRI (The Association of Bursars of 
Religious Institutes) operate under the umbrella of AMRI 
and is represented on the Finance committee.

Healthcare 
The field of Health is another area in which Religious 
are hugely significant in Ireland, and overseas. For the 
past few years, Sr Pat Donovan works in the Bishops 
Healthcare Office in Maynooth, an office towards which 
AMRI contributes. 

Office Administration
A new office Administrator has also been appointed 
recently, Ms Anne Donnellan. Anne will be the voice 
people hear when they ring the AMRI office, now that 
office work has resumed, and hers will be the first face 
we meet when again we can visit the office. Anne has 
also agreed to assume the task of Garda Vetting and is 
being trained to do so. Welcome Anne, and we pray you 
will be happy in this new post. 

Shared Archive for Religious
A conversation has been initiated with the President of 
Maynooth University exploring the possibility of a shared 
central archives for congregations.

Looking Ahead: Synodality
The process of synodality will be an important context 
for AMRI’s work in the coming years. There is the Synod 
on Synodality to be held in Rome next year and the Irish 
Church’s synodal pathway which will run for the next 
five years. The synodal path is a journey of engagement, 
listening, dialogue, and inclusive of all the People of 
God, especially those who have been hurt, disillusioned 
or rejected by the Church. We are in a new changing 
cultural context that calls on us to respond differently 
to society’s cultural, spiritual and religious needs as we 
proclaim the Gospel. This experience calls for a dynamic 
of an open and truthful dialogue in order to discern, learn 
and share as we welcome those estranged from the 
Church. AMRI has been invited by the Congregation for 
Institutes of Consecrated Life and Societies of Apostolic 
Life (CICLSAL) to make a proposal on the upcoming 
Synod on Synodality.

Conclusion
It has been a very busy year, our work continues to grow 
despite the pandemic. I would like to pay special tribute 
and sincere thanks the outgoing President of AMRI, 
Kathleen McGarvey OLA, for her welcome to me, for 
all her guidance and support. Her dedication, energy and 
passion for AMRI’s mission are impressive! 

Many individual religious and groups worked on making 
various submissions and statements on behalf of AMRI 
on relevant issues throughout the year. Other people 
generously provided support and advice when requested. 
To everyone who provided these and many other services 
to and through AMRI, we are grateful, and we pray it has 
been of assistance to all concerned. Finally, thanks to you 
our members for all your support and prayers. 

David Rose
Secretary General
September 2021
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COMMUNICATIONS
Helena Connolly:  
Communications Coordinator

Developments in technology often respond to changes in global society, fulfilling new needs as 
they emerge. This has certainly been my experience since I took up the role of Communications 
Coordinator at the beginning of 2021. In the constantly changing media of communications 
much of our engagement is now within the digital world, on online meeting platforms and 
virtual events. In recent months AMRI have held numerous online gatherings, such as facilitated 
seminars, large-scale webinars, and smaller group meetings. These have been collaborative 
spaces where members share and learn while providing mutual support and solidarity.
 
Building and developing effective internal communications 
has been an important part of the work. AMRI’s 
e-noticeboard and newsletter have proved a valuable 
communication tool for members, many of whom 
regularly engage with and circulate the information 
widely. Statistics show that many of AMRI’s campaigns and 
events reach the wider network within congregations and 
faith communities. The subscribers’ list is growing steadily 
too, ensuring that we continue to highlight the work of 
AMRI in the public sphere. Recent days of prayer and the 
People’s Vaccine Alliance were promoted outside of the 
membership. 

In communicating internally with members or externally 
to the wider public, we always look to AMRI’s mission 
which lies at the heart of what we say and do. My hope is 
that the brand new AMRI website will be at the core of 
communicating this mission. The website will be practical, 
functional, and accessible; sharing Good News stories, 
highlighting social and environmental justice issues and 
promoting collaborative action for change in the world. 
A focus group met earlier in the year along with the 
Communications Committee to plan, develop and map 
out the new site that will be launched soon.

The Communications office is building strong 
collaborative links with the work of the AMRI Justice 
desk and Vocations Ireland, as well as ongoing work with 
the Religious Formation Ministry Programme. As we 
look ahead to the Irish Synod, I have worked closely with 
AMRI Lay Mission Committee and the organising group 
for the series of seminars on the experiences of women 
religious in the Catholic Church. I have built working 
relationships with other Communication Coordinators, 
and I am a member of CWR, Communicators for Women 
Religious. 

PROGRAMME REPORTS

RELIGIOUS FORMATION  
MINISTRY PROGRAMME
Sr Josephine Enenmo OLA (Director RFMP)

This report begins on a note of gratitude to God, for the 
abiding presence and blessings the Religious Formation 
Ministry Programme has experienced especially at the 
height of the pandemic. We successfully completed the 
2019/2020 programme online and all past participants 
returned to their respective countries safely by the end 
of 2020. Actually, the last participant only left Ireland in 
March 2021. We want to acknowledge the support and 
encouragement we receive regularly from members of 
AMRI and the Executive. These same sentiments go to 
other resource persons who come to give lectures or 
facilitate workshops and who went the extra mile to 
work with us on Zoom during COVID-19. We must 
also extend a special word of gratitude to the AMRI 
Subcommittee members for their dedication and 
availability in supporting us as we get the programme up 
and running again. 

Change in Staffing
After ten years of untiring and dedicated service to the 
programme, Ann Concannon, SSL retired in July 2020 
having graciously agreed to oversee the programme 
until the appointment of a new director was made in 
January 2021. Ann deserves a special mention and 
acknowledgment for her utter commitment, enthusiasm 
and leadership. She will be missed.

After three years of service to the programme Geraldine 
Collins, RSM retired in November 2020. We are grateful 
to Geraldine for the immense contribution she made to 
the programme and for her gentle and inspiring presence 
on the Team. 

We are delighted to announce the appointment of 
Jennifer Burke, RJM, who joined the team on September 
1st 2021. As Jennifer begins this new venture, bringing 
her own particular areas of expertise, we wish her all the 
best and look forward to working with her. 

Joe McGee, MSC, after three years as a part-time 
member of the team has graciously offered to support 

the programme as a full-time member of the team. We 
are now three full-time members of staff. I acknowledge 
the confidence placed in me by AMRI in appointing 
me director of the programme in March 2021. It is a 
wonderful privilege and I am delighted to hold this key 
position. I look forward to working alongside Jennifer and 
Joe as we keep the RFMP flag flying in the service of 
the missionary Church. We are very grateful to all our 
provincial leaders who have made us available for this 
service.

2021/22 Programme
As we endeavour to adhere to all current regulations 
regarding Covid-19 Pandemic, the programme will 
commence on the 19th of October 2021. So far, fifteen 
(15) candidates have been interviewed and accepted. 
These candidates come from ten (10) countries namely: 
Australia, Cameroon, Korea, Mauritius, Myanmar, Nigeria, 
Pakistan, The Philippines, Sri Lanka and Zambia, many of 
whom are currently on mission outside their countries 
of origin. This internationality and interculturality make 
the Loreto House programme unique in its richness. We 
acknowledge the wonderful hospitality of local religious 
communities who offer accommodation, not only to 
their own members but to others who have no home 
in Ireland like diocesan priests and members of religious 
communities with no formal connection in this country. 
In this very concrete way, Irish religious communities 
continue to support the wider missionary Church.

Although the programme will begin later this year because 
of the challenges posed by the pandemic, efforts have 
been made to ensure that no aspect of the programme 
is omitted. To facilitate this, we will conclude one month 
later than usual at the end of June 2022.

As we begin this new chapter in RFMP, the team is very 
happy and indeed privileged to continue the great Irish 
missionary tradition of preaching the Gospel and enabling 
others to be agents of change in an ever changing world. 
Thank you.

PROGRAMME REPORTS
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JUSTICE, PEACE AND  
INTEGRITY OF CREATION
Toni Pyke: Justice, Peace and Ecology Coordinator

The Justice, Peace and Ecology Coordinator Toni Pyke, began her role with AMRI on  
January 6, 2021. Initially, a survey was sent out to AMRI members to reach out to the JPIC 
‘desks’ of each congregation. Since then, a key focus of the work of the AMRI JPIC work to 
date has involved networking with other AMRI member JPIC coordinators and focusing on four 
key justice areas: vaccine justice, Africa Europe Faith and Justice Network - economic justice, 
‘integral ecology’ and human rights.

 
AMRI are active members on the Steering Committee 
of the People’s Vaccine Alliance Ireland (PVI), a coalition 
of organisations and civil society groups in Ireland who 
are campaigning for equitable global access to Covid-19 
vaccines – a ‘people’s vaccine’. The campaign seeks Irish 
and EU support for a TRIPS Waiver (that enables big 
pharmaceuticals to protect their vaccines, treatments 
and diagnostics and is impacting on limiting the global 
supply of Covid19 vaccines) and an endorsement of the 
World Health Organisation (WHO) COVID Technology 
Access Pool (C-TAP, which demands that pharmaceuticals 
share their know-how and facilitate increased vaccine 
production in developing countries). 

An initial action was to officially launch the campaign on 
the 8th July, 2021 with key speakers including Winnie 
Byanyima, Execitive Director of UNAIDS, Dr. Mike Ryan 
from the WHO, Senator Alice-Mary Higgins, Mustaqueem 
De Gama of the World Trade Organisation, and others. 
AMRI members supported this launch, both in Ireland 
and overseas, and have been critical in raising the profile 
of the PVI petition to encourage the Irish government to 
support the campaign, alongside the European Citizen’s 
Initiative seeking support at European level. Next steps 
include continuing to lobby the Irish government and 
in raising public awareness of the enduring crisis of the 
pandemic in the developing world, who currently do 
not have widespread access to vaccines (for example 
the continent of Africa has a 3% vaccination rate as 
compared to Ireland who have fully vaccinated almost 
70% of its entire population).

In challenging the root causes of economic injustice 
in Africa and supporting individuals and groups who 
defend their land and livelihoods against the impunity 
of the operations of transnational corporations, some 
12 congregations within AMRI have established an Irish 
‘Antenna’ of the Africa Europe Faith and Justice Network. 
An agreed, initial area of work is in supporting the Africa 
Europe Faith and Justice Network secretariat in Brussels, 
who are lobbying the EU to support a UN binding Treaty 
on Transnational Corporations and Human Rights. The 
Irish antenna plans to also engage with the Irish Coalition 
on Business and Human Rights, who are campaigning 
for corporate accountability and Irish leadership in 
promoting human rights within business both in Ireland 
and overseas. 

AMRI JPIC are supporting Fr. Edward Flynn, CSSp  and Sr. 
Mirjam Beike, RGS in raising the awareness of the wider 
violations of human rights associated with the experience 
of obstetric fistula, as endured by many young women in 
rural communities in Asia and Africa. A webinar is planned 
for October that will highlight the daily realities for those 
who live with or have experienced obstetric fistula. The 
webinar will highlight the issues not just as a physical 
medical condition, but as a human rights issue that raises 
social, economic and psychological consequences for 
women and girls. For example, the cultural expectations 
of early marriage, the denial of the right to food, to 
education, the stigma associated with the condition, the 
ostracization from community life, etc. The importance of 
raising the profile of obstetric fistula as an abuse of human 
rights of the individual will encourage the inclusion of the 
issue at wider UN and international fora.

PROGRAMME REPORTS

LAY MISSION
“The preparation for an Irish Synod is a chance to start 
anew, a fire! Let it take off.  We should be optimistic, 
hopeful, positive. The Synod is like a breath of the Spirit 
drawing inspiration from Pope Francis. The Pope reminds 
us that synodality is a process, a journey and requires 
trust. As laypeople we want to engage in this process. It is 
wonderful that lay people are interested enough to hold 
an online event such as this.”

These are the words of a participant who attended 
our webinar (May 2021), We Need to Talk! A discussion 
around a national voice for laity within the Irish Church. 
This was the first in what it we hope will be a series 
of events as we walk as the people of God towards 
an Irish Synod; listening attentively, seeking mercy and 
healing, and building mutuality and trust. The webinar 
which was attended by over 100 delegates from all walks 
of life heard calls for a strategy for inclusion that would 
bring about a coherent national plan to allow formal 
engagement between the laity and Church leadership in 
Ireland to take place. It takes time to be a synodal church 
- it is not simply a structure or an event, but instead a way 
of being transformed together as Church.

Pope Francis reminds us that “A Church that does not 
listen cannot be credible” (2018, opening session of 
the Synod of Bishops on ‘Young People, the Faith and 
Vocational Discernment’). Without quality listening to 
one another, ordained and lay, the synodal church will lack 
an essential compass. The starting point for our vision 
and work is the baptism in which all the Church shares, 
not a clerical or a top-down approach, but collaboration, 
where the responsibility is on all the baptized for the life 
of the Church. AMRI’s lay mission committee, strives to 
promote a welcoming and inclusive Church for the future 
and over the coming year will endeavour to reach out 
to other organisations and individuals who share in this 
exciting vision of Church.

Responding to the ‘cry of the earth’ and the ‘cry of the 
poor’, AMRI have been active in linking in with the global 
Laudato Si Movement and supporting the Healthy Planet, 
Healthy People Petition. AMRI JPIC are working together 
with the Communications desk and Vocations Ireland in 
developing a project that will harness the wisdom and 
experiences of the wider AMRI membership in raising 
awareness and taking action on critical issues that impact 
on our social, ecological, economic,  political and human 
rights. 

A webinar was held on June 15 for AMRI leaders and 
bursars focused on Divestment and Faith Aligned 
Investment. Dr. Lorna Gold of FaithInvest, Jane Mellet 
from Trócaire, along with Sr. Noreen Flaherty and Miriam 
Barry of the Presentations Sisters congregation were key 
speakers at this event. A follow-up webinar is planned for 
Oct/Nov.

AMRI JPIC continues to link in with and support APT-
AMRI, the Spirasi Befriending programme, where a 
number of religious are befrienders to newly arrived 
migrants; the Irish Network Against Racism, and the 
Irish Refugee Council housing project where a number 
of congregations have provided properties to house 
refugees. 

The JPIC committee has been in contact with bishops’ 
conferences and conferences of religious in Myanmar, 
Tigray and Nigeria to express our solidarity and to 
remember in prayer the religious congregations, clergy 
and Catholic communities in those countries. 
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ACTION TO PREVENT TRAFFICKING (APT)
Due to the exceptional circumstances created by the  COVID-19 pandemic, the 
work of APT/AMRI for 2020 only came to fruition in 2021, we spent 2020 planning 
and coordinating activities which came to fruition in 2021. 

To mark the European Day Against Trafficking, 30 
July, APT/AMRI participated in a national awareness-
raising campaign in conjunction with MECPATHS, 
the Immigrant Council of Ireland, RUHAMA, the 
IOM and Maynooth University, as photographed. 

APT/AMRI also participated in a worldwide 
Twitter storm, organised by Talitha Kum (based in 
the offices of the UISG, Rome) the overarching 
body for Religious working to combat human 
trafficking. 

Collaboration is key!

Participation in the UN Commission for Status of Women (UN CSW65).
APT/AMRI participated in the UN CSW65 (UN Commission for the Status of Women) Forum, which took place 
in New York – and online- 16-26 March, 2021. APT members presented two webinars, (18 & 25 March), shining a 
spotlight on the early years of APT, our evolution and activities which range across activism such as awareness-raising, 
advocacy, campaigning, national conferences and international collaborations via RENATE Europe. Thanks to the 
generosity of our colleague Good Shepherd Sisters, who enjoy NGO status at the UN and created the opportunity 
for us to participate in such a prestigious event, where we could share about ‘’The passion of faith-based communities 
to combat human trafficking in Ireland -a Spirit-led journey.’’

TIP Report 2021
Last year marked twenty years of the US State 
Department’s publication of the annual Trafficking 
in Persons Report (TIP). The TIP report for 2021 
documents the continuing increase in human 
trafficking and exploitation as the traffickers 
relentlessly pursue their ‘’trade,’’ taking full advantage 
of an evolving crisis and the diversion of resources in 
attempts to respond to the pandemic. With specific 
reference to Ireland, the report is pretty damning, 
with Ireland remaining on Tier 2 for the second 
consecutive year. The report’s opening statement 

on Ireland reads as follows: The Government of 
Ireland does not fully meet the minimum standards 
for the elimination of trafficking but is making 
significant efforts to do so. … While courts convicted 
one trafficker under false imprisonment charges, the 
government has not obtained a trafficking conviction 
under the anti-trafficking law since it was amended 
in 2013, which weakened deterrence, contributed to 
impunity for traffickers, and undermined efforts to 
support victims to testify…

8 February International Day of Prayer and Awareness  
Against Human Trafficking.

On the occasion of this year’s feast of St. Josephine Bakhita (8 February), APT/AMRI took the opportunity to 
celebrate Mass via the national RTE network, raising human-trafficking awareness amongst an estimated audience 
of 40,000 nationally and possibly more, internationally by virtue of recordings and podcasts.

Newstalk Radio interview
The year got off to an energetic start on January 6th 2021 with APT/AMRI member Eilis Coe, RSC, attracting the 
attention of Pat Kenny, of Newstalk radio, who interviewed Eilis on 6 January, on the question ‘’Is Sex Trafficking 
Hidden in Plain Sight?’’ Sex trafficking is indeed hidden in plain sight in Ireland, with continued failure on the part of 
Ireland to meet key international targets to combat global human trafficking. 



20 2120 21

AMRI ANNUAL REPORT 2020 – 2021

Contrary to the expectation that the crime of Human 
Trafficking would surely wane because of the pandemic 
and the all-encompassing restrictions, all credible reports 
testify to its exponential increase (TIP report 2021; ILO 
(International Labour Organisation) report 2021; Global 
Slavery Index; the IOM (International Organisation for 
Migration). Like the rest of humanity confined to their 
homes, human traffickers resorted to the cyber platforms 
to ply their trade in human beings. Sadly and frighteningly, 
police reports worldwide indicate there is a younger age 
demographic falling victim to this crime, largely due to 
unsupervised and prolonged exposure cyber highways. 

In this regard, APT/AMRI set its sights in 2021 during 
the height of a pandemic, on realising its commitment to 
develop an All-Ireland anti-Human Trafficking awareness-
raising education programme. The target audience 
is the post-primary school sector, commencing with 
senior-cycle students e.g. Transition Year & fifth year 
students. In time, we will extend the awareness-raising 
to the school parents’ associations and the wider school 
community, associated with each school participating in 
the programme. 

The programme comprises input from the following, 
whom we are grateful for their generosity in preparing 
content and attended recordings at iCatholic Studios 
during the summer months of this year : 

• Mr. Kevin Hyland, OBE, UK’s first anti-Slavery 
Commissioner & author of SDG 8.7& the inclusion 
of the eradication of human trafficking within the 
UN 15 year global goals.

• Assistant Garda Commissioner, Ms. Ann-Marie 
Cagney. 

• MECPATHS Ireland (Mercy Efforts for Child 
Protection Against Trafficking in the Hospitality 
Sector).

• Ms. Alex Cooney, CyberSafeKids.

• Tim Schmalz, sculptor (Let the Oppressed go Free, 
Homeless Jesus, Angels Unaware) 

• Detective Superintendent Derek McGuire, Garda 
National Protective Services Bureau. 

An exciting possibility is within our sights as our cAPTives 
anti-human trafficking awareness-raising education 
initiative has captured the attention and imagination 
of the renowned sculptor Tim Schulz, (5, above) with 
who we are negotiating the possibility of his exhibiting 
in Ireland, his most recent piece of sculpture ‘Let the 
Oppressed go Free,’ his response to the crime of human 
trafficking. It is early days in discussions, but as we know, 
‘’With God, all things are possible! (Matthew 19:26).

The above is but an overview of the work this year, 
all of which is underpinned by the faithfulness of our 
membership, who have taken to monthly online meetings 
via Zoom with gusto! It is ironic that one of the positives 
from this time of the pandemic, is the capacity of each 
of us to adapt and embrace the new, despite personal 
misgivings and inadequacies. 

cAPTives FINANCE &  
ADMINISTRATION
Fidelma Mallon:  
Financial Administrator

Anne Donnellan:
Office Administrator

2020-21 has been a very different year working in AMRI where blended working and Zoom 
meetings became the norm. Despite some of the challenges, all members of AMRI embraced 
the change and many even switched to banking on-line, taking on board the help and guidance 
along the way. Even though there were some difficult times, we enjoyed some laughs along the 
way making things easier in the accounts department and, hopefully too, for our members.
 
2020 audited accounts have been completed and are 
ready to present at our AGM. Management accounts 
to June 2021 are also completed. With increasing work 
programmes in AMRI this year, it is important to keep our 
budget updated ensuring that we are keeping within our 
limits. Our subscription from is invaluable for statistics 
and planning going forward. In our annual report you will 
see graphs with the age profile, number of members and 
Congregation’s size. 

I am grateful to work with Sr Josephine Enenmo RFMP, Sr 
Geraldine McCarthy APT, Margaret Cartwright Vocations 

Ireland to record the finances of each organisation under 
the umbrella of AMRI. The Association of Bursars of 
Religious Ireland (ABRI), are part of AMRI, did not have a 
conference in 2020. 

AMRI continue to collect the funding pledges for Towards 
Healing. We record and reconcile the income and bank, 
then issue receipts to the Congregations and forward 
quarterly amounts to Towards Healing. The accounts 
department is a busy place and I would like to thank you 
all for your help and support over the last year.

Anne Donnellan is AMRI’s new part-time administrator. She is the friendly 
voice you will hear when you ring the AMRI office. She keeps track of all 
the files, minutes and administration associated with the various AMRI 
programmes and projects. She will also take on liaison with the Garda 
Vetting office. 

Human 
Trafficking

Awareness- 
raising  

education

Programme for  
post-Primary 

schools.

Garda Vetting
Despite the various restrictions and lack of engagement on a pastoral ministry front, many congregations continued 
to require access to the Garda vetting process. This was mainly for new employees and for some renewal of those 
previously vetted. Almost 600 were vetted over the past 12 months.
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EDUCATION
Eithne Woulfe, SSL
Education Coordinator

Traditionally the focus of AMRI members in Education has revolved around twin priorities:

Education as a locus of Evangelisation and a Justice 
agenda in the context of current Education realities in 
the country.  

Today too, both Evangelisation and Justice are to the 
forefront of the agenda of the recently established AMRI 
Education Committee.  In recent times,  AMRI and its 
members have invested/expended significant resources 
of personnel, time and finance in the establishment of 
solid legal entities, based on partnerships, to facilitate 
the interest of Catholic educators into the future. 
This is anchored in the reality of  lay led Catholic 
education communities, reading the ‘signs of the times’ 
and influencing developments and responses in a much 
changed and changing landscape for faith led Education 
interests on this island. 

1.  The Changing Cultural, and Social 
context

The current Programmes for Governments in both 
jurisdictions – Republic of Ireland and Northern 
Ireland - speak of public consultation on the future of 
denominational schooling: Citizens Assembly and Public 
consultation process. Both are premised on a political 
position of building a contemporary, future focussed 
inclusive democratic society, reflected in adjusting the 
provision of State funded schooling, with particular 
reference to faith schools. 

The School Admissions Act 2019 has already designated 
Catholic Primary schools as being local area schools 
with priority for admissions being given to local children 
regardless of their parental affinity with this school type 
and ethos.  

These factors together with the rapidly evolving socio-

political climate, demographic diversity together with 
growing levels of indifference to the Catholic faith 
surfacing in practice and in research, posit challenges and 
hopefully opportunities for Catholic Education interests 
on this island. 

AMRI and Education
As part of this Education map today, AMRI is involved in 
a series of partnerships while also resolving to focus on 
a research based approach to policy development with 
particular reference to Gospel values and the needs of 
those who ‘fall through the cracks’ of available educational 
opportunities. 

Thus, AMRI offers a partnership role in :

• Supporting its  members through offering advice, 
information, advocacy as needed

• Working closely with the Irish Episcopal 
Conference, Trustee bodies 

• Actively participating in Catholic Education Service 
agencies North and South, and also in:

• Public fora
• Specialist bodies and persons such as Third Level 

providers, research agencies, 

in the pursuit of reading the ‘signs of the times’ and 
influencing strategic directions, developments and 
responses. 

2. Partnerships
The Catholic Education Service Trust and related bodies

The Catholic Education Service Trust comprises both 
members of the Irish Episcopal Conference and AMRI.  
It is the member and funding body of the recently 
established Catholic Education Partnership. However, its 

committee the Catholic Education Service Committee 
(CESC) is the operational arm of CEST where AMRI has 
four members. The other members comprise six Bishops 
and two nominees of lay Trust bodies.  Key concerns on 
its agenda are:

• Articulation and promotion of a vision for Catholic 
education today, 

• Church/State engagement
• Capacity issues 
• Synergy among leadership bodies in Catholic 

Education for Mission integrity.

The Catholic Education Partnership is the umbrella 
body for formal and informal Catholic Education interests 
and this is reflected in the profile of its Directors; AMRI 
and IEC each having  one nominee.  CEP seeks to be an 
authoritative and informed voice for Catholic Education 
nationally and to ensure collaborative approaches among 
the various parties publicly involved in Catholic Education.  
Simultaneously, it is CEP which is the member of the newly 
incorporated Trustee body for Catholic Schools – the 
Association of Patrons and Trustees of Catholic Schools 
(APTCS), and also of the Secretariat of Secondary 
Schools (SSS).  The more well known units of  the latter 
are the Joint Managerial Body (JMB), and the Council of 
Management of Catholic Secondary Schools (CMCSS).  
SSS has a remit for all Voluntary Secondary schools, while 
the JMB membership comprises representatives of faith 
schools.  It is hoped that other national bodies may in 
time choose to be legally part of this partnership.  

Work has begun on the development of a Strategic plan 
for CEP – a hopefully invitational and clear approach, 
building on ‘Share the Good News’ and ‘Vision 08’.

Northern Ireland
AMRI is represented on  the Northern Ireland Council 
for Catholic Education, a registered company. Its directors 
comprise the Bishops or their delegate of the six N.I. 
dioceses, three religious and a director of the Edmund 
Rice Schools Trust (N.I.).   Its executive arm, the Catholic 
Schools Trustee Service is partly publicly funded, the 
balance being sourced through a per capita levy on 
trustees in respect of their respective school pupil 
population. The sustainability of this latter arrangement in 
the light of the impact of Covid on diocesan resources, the 
major trustee interest in N.I., may need to be addressed 
in the near future.   

AMRI interests are also assured by the appointment of its 
Education Director to the statutory Council for Catholic 
Maintained Schools for N.I.  

Three key areas are of consideration for AMRI members:

• Area Planning of School Provision, Sustainability and 
Inclusivity

• The place of the faith/Catholic School politically, 
within the Catholic community and in schools

• A Guidance document on RSE to supplement that 
offered by the statutory Curriculum development 
agency CCEA. 

3.  AMRI Members and Education 
Interests

AMRI provides a service to its members through offering 
support, advice, information, advocacy as needed.  This 
element has diminished with the establishment of major 
Trust companies incorporating most Secondary school 
interests. 

Primary Schools
However, the future of Primary schools, and reorganisation 
such as the divestment, rationalisation or closure of 
Primary schools will involve the transfer of property or 
its use and is likely to impact schools especially in towns 
and cities. Many of these are  schools traditionally linked 
to religious acting as both trustees of the property and 
the school per se. 

However, as the result of a mid-20th century agreement to 
legally update an untenable legacy around the ‘ownership’ 
of Primary schools, all some three thousand Catholic 
Primary schools were constituted under the patronage 
of the Catholic Bishops (and Church leadership for other 
faith communities), and subsequently recognised in the 
Education Act 1998. This means that  Religious trustees 
and congregations must recognise that the Primary 
schools they operate either in diocesan property or in 
congregational property are part of the over-all provision 
of Catholic Primary schools within the Diocese. 

Consequently, any proposed changes relative to Convent/ 
Monastery schools must be co-ordinated by the Patron 
of the schools in the Diocese and this is the basis for 
the State negotiating around divestment only with the 
Bishops as trustees/patrons of Primary schools.  However, 
the implications for the interests of religious are evident.  
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Special Education
Religious were to the forefront in providing and servicing 
schools catering for people with Special Educational 
Needs, many of which were residential.  Such schools 
are legally classified as Primary schools and thus under 
the patronage of the Local Ordinary.  Changing policy 
and awareness means that there are fewer stand-alone 
Special Education schools which now cater for specific 
specialised needs. Religious remain committed to these 
services and their future as part of their mission and 
legacy. 

A meeting of religious involved in the provision of these 
services is to be sponsored by AMRI in late September 2021 
to explore how to develop approaches anchored in their 
respective founding intentions. 

Second Chance Education
The movement of many religious to live in local 
community-based settings led to the development 
of various approaches to Second Chance Education, 
often partly funded by the State through the local 
Education Trust Boards, formerly Vocational Educational 
Committees. The recession of 2008 and following years 
saw the enduring demise of many of these initiatives 
though some have survived.  Among these are Voluntary 
run second chance centres sponsored by religious for 
young and vulnerable early school leavers.  

Statutory compliance is essential in all aspect of these 
services and public funding covers some teaching hours.  
However, the balance of staffing, much of it voluntary 
be it teachers, counsellors, animators, management, 
childcare, meal provision is a matter for the sponsoring 
bodies.  What is the future of these centres and services?  
Is it time for AMRI members involved in such interests to 
together look at this issue and seek ways forward for an 
invaluable service?     

Co-Trusteeship of Community Schools
Many religious are co-trustees of the network of some 
hundred Community schools from the 1970s.  Some 
of these were linked to the parish mission of religious 
especially in green field urban areas. Others evolved from 
the merger of existing Post Primary schools. It is now 
the new Association of Patrons and Trustees of Catholic 
Schools which hopes to provide a leading service to these 
trustees going forward. This includes actively enabling the 

Forum for Patronage of such schools, and negotiating on 
behalf of their interests. 

Formation
The evidence from schools and Third Level Teacher 
Training colleges is that many of their professional staff 
and students do not have the same sense of intentional 
Catholic identity as heretofore.  A personal commitment 
and a faith tradition seem to be lacking. This is likely to 
be asymptomatic of society in general.   The situation 
has not been helped by the Teaching Council certifying 
eligibility for registration as a teacher of R.E. to some who 
have studied no sacred texts or systematic theology. In 
addition to the traditional qualifications, eligibility is open 
to those who have completed studies in Philosophy of 
Religion, or World Religions, or Ethics alone. 

This is a context where Formation and some engagement 
with core principles and understanding of the Catholic 
education and Gospel values and prayer seem imperative.  
It may be a matter of sowing some ‘mustard seeds’. Is there 
a place for AMRI to support such an initiative through 
its membership?  Many religious offer specific formation 
opportunities to staff but is a generic approach not also 
advisable in tandem with these offerings? 

On line learning offers new opportunities, and some of the 
Third Level Catholic Education departments have been 
to the forefront in responding to this with the support 
of interested education professionals on the ground and 
sponsoring religious congregations subsidising some of 
the cost?  Could consideration be given to widening 
this approach through blended learning possibly 
on a pilot basis over a few years?  This might also 
become a nucleus of ongoing support and growth of a 
cohort of faith anchored intentional professionals across 
Catholic schools on this island? 

4. AMRI Committee for Education
The setting up of an Education Committee by the 
Executive of AMRI Executive Council to assist the same 
Executive Council in achieving its Strategic Plan under 
Mission and Dialogue is to be welcomed. This involves 
engaging in dialogue and partnership within Church 
circles and wider society, supporting vocational, Gospel 
inspired leadership, and faith formation at all stages of 
life and living, with an emphasis on service, theological 
reflection and ethical analysis.  It will have a particular focus 

on issues relating to the educationally underprivileged. 
This responsibility overlaps in a particular way with 
Justice Peace and Integrity of Creation together with the 
Empowerment of Laity for Mission at this time, which are 
both pivotal to the Strategic directions of AMRI. 

The Committee is chaired by John Hennebry OSA and 
its members are: Patricia Bourden, Niall Coll, Peter Kelly, 
Martin Kennelly, Deirdre Matthews, David Rose,  Brighde 
Valelly, Eithne Woulfe (Convenor).

To date, consideration is being given to three areas of 
research:

• Evangelisation possibly in a context anchored 
in Vatican 11’s documents ‘Nostra Aetate’ and 
Gaudium et Spes - Declaration on the Relationship 
of the Church to Non-Chrisitan Religions, and The 
Church in the Modern World.  Some research 
on (i) the experience of evangelical new Irish 
in Catholic schools and (ii) the reality of staff 
members in Catholic education settings, might be 
considered.   

• New Irish: The public policy of integration of 
migrant pupils began in 1990s but no national 
programme has been adequately evaluated. There is 
need to facilitate and resource the development of 
empowering policies at a national level which can 
evolve from action-based research. Migrant needs 
and related research in education include a wide 
spectrum of social, cultural, linguistic and economic 
variables. Such approaches could lead to policy 
shifts.  

• Disadvantaged Irish groups:  A proposed focus 
is the situation of Traveller pupils on mainstream 
non-DEIS schools. The 2008 recession, led to 
the withdrawal of local support systems such as 
Traveller teachers and Home school support for 
this community, which have not been reinstated in 
any shape. Research shows the poor progression 
of pupils from this community at all levels of formal 
education.  Work is needed to highlight this failure 
with a view to policy adjustments. 

The principal approaches emerging include:

• The necessity for a pro-active united presence in 
the public sphere and a unified voice for Catholic 
Education.  

• Engagement with the contribution Catholic 
education can make in this country make to 
integration of minorities both at the level of civil 
society and Church?  Catholic Church has global 
outreach and range of experiences and possibilities. 

• Put effort into areas not being considered by 
other entities with a view to empowerment, and 
action research in order to mainstream issues and 
generate relevant responses and funding. Such 
research is possible through a programme of 
sponsorship and evaluation of projects targeting 
educationally disadvantaged and is the principal 
mechanism for influencing and shaping national 
policy. 
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VOCATIONS IRELAND
Margaret Cartwright: 
Vocations Ireland Director

It has been a long road but we have finally arrived: Vocations 
Ireland is now part of AMRI since July 1st 2021. The Vocations 
Committee of AMRI continue the work of Vocations Ireland under 
the charitable status of AMRI.

Vocations Ireland are committed to investing energy in 
promoting and creating a new culture of vocation and 
providing guidance to those discerning their vocation. We 
continue to work with congregations who are prepared 
to accept vocations. With those congregations who are 
no longer able to accept vocations – yet willing to support 
others who are. Vocations Ireland continues to let the 
Spirit blow where it wills. Vocations Ireland encourages 
young people to be the very best they can be and to 
grow in holiness.

In the words of Isaiah 43:18-19 let us: Remember not the 
former things, nor consider the things of old. Behold I am 
doing a new thing; now it springs forth, do you not perceive it?

Support & Training
We provide support to Vocation Directors with individual 
contact, regional meetings, bi monthly newsletter. 
Listening to the individual members helps us to ascertain 
the needs of our members. This can be help with 
building resources, linking them to different organisations, 
provision of pastoral supervision, providing spaces for 
communal reflection between vocation directors from 
the different congregations.

We plan, organise and implement training for vocation 
personnel such as professional courses in Orientation 
for new vocation personnel, vocation ethics, behavioural 
assessments, psycho sexual integration, cultural diversity, 
and social media.

We offer webinars on key topics such as religious life in 
today’s world, young people in the church today, synodal 
church and young people. Communicating amention a 
few.

Vocation Music Awards
Before coming to AMRI I have been involved with Austria 
and the UK in planning an implementing the Vocations 
Music Award. A European project for Vocations. This was 
the brainchild of a young seminarian who was ordained 
this year.

Ireland and the UK have been collaborating on this 
project. We had 35 entries the judges have chosen 16 
to go to the final of which 10 will be chosen to make a 
CD next year. There will be a 1,st 2nd & 3rd prize from 
among the day. We are now at the stage of preparing 
the final. The final will be shown live on Youtube on 25th 
September 2021 and the full details will be sent out soon 
so you can watch the event. Germany and Austria held 
their events live but due to Covid we are holding our 
entire competition online.

I invited AMRI through the communications desk to 
come on board with us to pool resources and expertise. 
Helena with her musical talent is one of the 6 Judges 
and through her skills in communication has been able to 
develop a pod cast for us and help with technical issues 
in many ways.

COP26 Glasgow
Again prior to coming to AMRI I was collaborating with 
the Nov UK and Vocation Scotland on a project for 
Cop 26. The main idea is to have a spiritual and religious 
presence in Glasgow during Cop. There will be a lot of 
young pilgrims from England, Scotland and Ireland making 
their way to Glasgow.

We will have a space in Glasgow in St Enoch Square in 
St Paul’s bookshop. Here we will offer a space to pilgrims 

to get warm, maybe dry off from the expected rain, have 
a coffee charge the mobiles and watch some live stream 
events from Cop.

We will have the use of the Cathedral and the 
Redemptorists youth team from Ireland will be looking 
after a Liturgy on Creation. We will be linking with Night 
fever to pray for the success of Cop. We have a Mercy 
Bus present in St Enoch’s offering the sacrament of 
reconciliation.

There will be all night adoration in the Cathedral. We 
will have the Carlo Acutis Exhibition present for young 
people to visit.

We are inviting schools and youth groups around the 
country to make a patch with a message to COP from 
the young people of Ireland. The Carmelites are taking 
on the task of sewing all the patches onto a flag of 
Ireland which will be handed over at COP. We will be 
giving out recycled envelopes with seeds for planting. 
All congregations involved in the project will have their 
website address on the envelopes. Sr Marie Dunne HF is 
writing a song for COP.

Active engagement with other  
vocation organisations
Vocations Ireland collaborate with the NRVC in offering 
our professional development courses. Vocations Ireland is 
one of the coordinators for the International Membership 
of NRVC and therefore involved in organising webinars 
for our international members.

We also collaborate with NOV UK. Vocation Scotland, 
Diocesan National Vocation Office sharing ideas, resources 
and joining in each other’s webinars. We collaborate with 
National Association for Vocation Directors Canada, The 
European Vocations service, UCESM, and CYMI. Through 
CYMI we engage with many diocesan youth groups, 
youth2000 and Net Ministries .

Active engagement with Communicators 
for Women Religious
Vocations Ireland are members of Communicators for 
Women Religious Ireland (CWR). This has been a great 
support network and is growing from strength to strength. 
Enabling the voice of Religious to be heard hopefully in 
a new way. We have already had 2 Conference which 
have been very successful and are planning a third. 
We have offered social media training to Leaders and 
communicators giving the opportunity to share ideas 
on various social media platforms and avail of training 
programs through CWR.

Social Media & Zoom
We continue to build our online presence through: 
encouraging our Mission countries to join our professional 
training workshops; offering spiritual direction online; 
online tour of the convents; virtual coffee gatherings for 
young people; sharing the stories of our founders and 
foundresses.

Thank you to the many congregations who have 
come on board with our two major projects this 
year. If you have not been involved and would 
like to get involved please email me at info@
vocationsireland.com
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The directors present their Directors’ Annual Report, 
combining the Directors’ Report and Trustees’ Report, 
and the audited financial statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2014, FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland”, applying Section 1A of that standard and the 
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP).

The Trustees’ Report contains the information required 
to be provided in the Trustees’ Annual Report under 
the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 
guidelines. At present, given that accounting regulations 
under charities legislation are pending in the Republic of 
Ireland, the application of SORP is not mandatory, but 
may be adopted on a voluntary basis. The directors of 
the company are also charity trustees for the purpose 
of charity law and under the company’s constitution are 
known as members of the board of trustees.

In this report the directors of Association of Leaders of 
Missionaries and Religious of Ireland Company Limited 
by Guarantee present a summary of its purpose, 
governance, activities, achievements and finances for the 
financial year 31 December 2020.

The company is a registered charity and hence the 
report and results are presented in a form which 
complies with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2014 and, with the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(Charities SORP), the organisation has implemented 
its recommendations where relevant in these financial 
statements.

The charity is limited by guarantee not having a share 
capital.

Mission, Objectives and Strategy
Mission Statement
The purpose of AMRI is to represent and promote active 
collaboration between Religious Institutes, Societies of 
Apostolic Life and Missionary Organisations. Key strategic 
programme areas include Mission & Education at home 
and abroad; Justice, Peace and Environment; Health and 
Pastoral Care; and Support to its Membership.

Financial Results
At the end of the financial year the charity has assets 
of €1,843,488 (2019 - €2,057,857) and liabilities of 
€179,652 (2019 - €389,128). The net assets of the charity 
have decreased by €(4,893).

Reserves Position and Policy
The trustees aim to maintain free reserves in unrestricted 
funds at a level which equates to approximately two 
years of unrestricted charitable expenditure. The trustees 
consider that this level will provide sufficient funds to 
respond to a decrease in membership fees and to ensure 
support and governance costs are covered. The trustees 
consider that a level of two years is sufficient.

The balance held as unrestricted funds at the year-end 
was €1,663,836, of which €1,495,555 are regarded as 
free reserves, after allowing for funds tied up in tangible 
fixed assets and designated funds. Actual two year 
expenditure totalled €1,161,727. The current level of 
reserves is slightly higher than is needed and this is due 
to the decreased level of expenditure in 2020 when the 
company decreased its expenditure in response to the 
covid 19 pandemic.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The company relies on the continued support from its 
members to operate and achieve its goals and objectives. 
Any decrease in this support could have a negative 
impact on the future of the company. The company 
receives income from its members and applies this to 
the furtherance of its objectives. Management reviews 
the income and expenditure of the company periodically 
during the year to ensure that the company seeks to 
raise sufficient funds from members to enable it to 
achieve its objectives each year. The Directors believe 
that the charity is well positioned and has full support 
of its members to reduce this risk to an acceptable level.

The impact of Covid 19 can be seen across all sectors. 
Government actions in respect of restriction of 
movement, social distancing guidelines, and limiting 
certain activities have resulted in a significant fall in 
economic activity. As of now it is unclear as to how 
long these measures will be in effect for, or the ultimate 
impact on the charity. The Directors note that this may 
have a negative impact on the charity but, at the date of 
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signing of the financial statements, the impact of this is 
uncertain. This may therefore have a negative impact on 
the results of operations and the net asset value of the 
charity subsequent to the reporting date

Although the effects cannot be fully determined, the 
directors believe that the main risks associated with 
Covid-19 are as follows;

• a slow-down and reduction in the organisation’s 
activity during the periods of temporary closure

• impact of the virus on AMRI membership including 
illness and death

• a prolonged period of government 
recommendations and restrictions on the 
movement of people to contain the virus

• a potential reduction in activity following the 
recommencement of trading which may result in 
reduced consumer spending and demand for the 
company’s services

• a reduction in asset values.

Directors and Secretary
The directors who served throughout the financial year, 
except as noted, were as follows:

Kathleen McGarvey - Chairperson and President
John Hennebry - Vice President
Sally Fay Roddy
Rita (Margaret) Kelly
Edmund Garvey
Thomas O’Connor
Aidan McGrath
Brendan Coffey
Evelyn Greene
Paula Molloy
Timothy Lehane
Mary Hanrahan (Appointed 17 September 2020)
Brid Liston (Resigned 17 September 2020)

The secretary who served throughout the financial year 
was L&P Trustee Services Limited.

Compliance with Sector-Wide Legislation 
and Standards
The charity engages pro-actively with legislation, 
standards and codes which are developed for the sector. 
Association of Leaders of Missionaries and Religious of 
Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee subscribes to 
and is compliant with the following:

• The Companies Act 2014
• The Charities SORP (FRS 102)
• Charities Act 2009

Post - balance sheet events
Covid-19 is a developing situation in the post year end 
period with a vaccination roll-out commenced in 2021. 
The period of restrictions on the movement of people 
designed to slow the spread of this virus are being 
gradually removed at the date of approval of these 
financial statements.

The directors have reviewed continuity procedures, 
taken appropriate measures to maintain the safety of our 
stakeholders and are maintaining communications with 
our customers. The directors are staying up-to-date with 
the latest advice and information from the national public 
health bodies and keep plans, policies and procedures 
actively under review.

Organisational structure
Association of Leaders of Missionaries and Religious of 
Ireland is a company limited by guarantee, governed 
by its Memorandum and Articles of Association. It is a 
registered charity with the Charity Regulatory Authority.

The directors meet regularly and are responsible for the 
strategic direction and policy of the company.

Political Donations
The Charity made no political donations during the year.

Research and Development
The Charity initiated a research project on the 
experiences of returned missionaries. This is expensed to 
the Statement of Financial Activities as the project is for 
academic purposes only.

Members of the Executive Council 2020
Kathleen McGarvey (President)
John Hennebry (Vice President)
Edmund Garvey
Rita Kelly
Thomas O’Connor
Sally Roddy
Aidan McGrath
Timothy Lehane
Paula Molloy
Evelyn Greene
Mary Hanrahan (appointed 17 September 2020)
Brid Liston (resigned 17 September 2020)

The Executive members met regularly throughout the 
year and continue to develop the Company. The Executive 
Committee is currently working on the implementation 
of the six principles of the Charity Governance Code and 
implementation of its strategic plan.
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Finance & Risk Management Committee
The Finance and Risk Management Committee was 
formally established in 2017 by the Executive of AMRI 
with approved Terms of Reference. Its members are:

Br Edmund Garvey, Executive and Chairperson
Ms Linda Downes, (Financial & HR Consultant with 
Vincentian Fathers)
Mr Pat Clarke, (WK Nowlan, Chartered Surveyor & 
Property Advisor)
Mr Ian Brady, (Head of Davy Charities & Not for Profit)
Sr Anne Doyle, (Treasurer with Sisters of Mercy 
Congregation)
Fr Paddy Hennessy, (Vice Provincial of Salesians)
Mr David Rose, Secretary General attends in an 
administrative capacity
Ms Fidelma Mallen, Financial Administrator, attends in an 
administrative capacity
Sr Elizabeth Murphy (Attended in administrative capacity, 
Resigned 31 August 2020)
Sr Brid Liston (Resigned 17 September 2020)

Governance Committee
The Executive appointed a Governance Committee 
to work on Governance matters. The following were 
appointed and work with Legal Advisors Millett & 
Matthews: 

Fr Aidan McGrath, Canon Lawyer
Fr Brendan Coffey, Canon Lawyer
Ms Nicola Keogh, Company Secretary 
David Rose, Secretary General

Their mandate is to review and amend aspects of the 
AMRI Constitution; and governance and leadership 
issues. The Canonical Statutes, approved by CICLSAL in 
Rome in 2017 are also under review. 

Governance
Association of Leaders of Missionaries and Religious 
of Ireland is a Company Limited by Guarantee with a 
Constitution approved by the Companies Act 2014 and 
ratified by the Members on 7 March 2017. The Charities 
Regulatory Authority Number is 20023263. It is a 
registered charity and has been granted the CHY number 
9301. Its Statutes were approved ad experimentum by 
CICLSAL in August 2017 for a period of five years. 

Human Relations Management
Policies and procedures for day-to-day operations are 
outsourced to ADARE Human Resources, Blackrock, Co 
Dublin. To date an Employee Manual has been developed 
incorporating all aspects of current employee legislation. 

Location of Offices
The main administration office was leased from a 
missionary congregation on a three-year renewal basis, 
which was renewed for a further two-year term in 
June 2019. This offers value for money since it provides 
accessibility not only for individual offices but also 
meeting rooms and car parking facilities. The ‘green field’ 
site is consistent with the Association’s commitment to 
the promotion of ‘care for our fragile earth, our common 
home’ as outlined in publications by Pope Francis.

A second base at Willow Park, Blackrock, also leased from 
a missionary society, provides very adequate classroom 
facilities for the one-year Religious Formation Ministry 
Programme.

Member Organisations
The members comprise of 155 religious organisations, 
missionary societies and apostolic groups in Ireland who 
pay a membership fee to fund the activities of the charity. 
The services provided include legally compliant Garda 
vetting, Children and Vulnerable Adults support, Covid 
Helpline and Advice, Communications Programme, 
Education policy and advice, Justice and Ecology co-
ordination (divestment, housing, migrants, refugees and 
interfaith development), Action to Prevent Human 
Trafficking, GDPR information and implementation, 
Research on Missionaries, a missions promotions 
programme, an annual production of an Address 
Guide and a Guide to Retreats and Conferences. 
Communication is provided through its website which 
features many media statements, relevant documents and 
regular e-newsletters are distributed twice monthly.

The Strategic Plan 2018-2021 outlines the Vision, Mission 
and Values of AMRI. Work on the implementation of the 
Strategic Plan has continued as the Executive Committee 
has nominated and put in place several Committees 
e.g. JPIC, RFMP Management, Communications, Lay 
Missionaries in addition to the existing Finance & Risk 
Management Committee. 

Mission and Dialogue
The focus for 2019/2020 was Mission & Dialogue which 
was introduced at the AGM in May 2019 and was 
followed up significantly at the Autumn Conference held 
in October 2019 at which Cardinal Turkson, Dicastery 
on Human Development, was the invited guest speaker. 
There was a story telling event at a meeting of UCD 
Volunteers Overseas. A research project on the 
experiences of returned missionaries was begun in 2020.

Most mission related events were put on hold due to 
Covid-19 including Transition Workshops for returned and 

returning missionaries, Fit for Life, the annual Christmas 
dinner for missionaries to meet, and links with University 
College Dublin’s Volunteers Overseas programme.

The CPPP co-ordinated parish promotions programme 
was also put on hold as churches closed due to Covid. 
The CPPP is organised by AMRI in conjunction with the 
Irish Episcopal Conference whereby congregations visit 
dioceses to promote their congregations but also to 
promote the contemporary involvement of missionaries 
at home and overseas.

Lay Mission Committee
The Lay Mission Committee, established in November 
2019 is an integral part of AMRI. It’s mission is to promote 
and advance the work of lay missionary groups. The 
recently announced Synodal Pathway will be a valuable 
opportunity to ensure the voice of lay missionaries 
is heard and that lay people can influence and act to 
promote a more inclusive and missionary Church. 

Religious Formation 
Ministry Programme 
(RFMP)
With one of its Goals focused 
on Gospel Leadership, AMRI has 
responsibility for a year-long Religious 
Formation Ministry Programme (RFMP), now in its 39th 
year based at leased premises at Willow Park, Blackrock. 
Members of religious congregations, mainly from Africa 
and Asia study formation and leadership over the course 
of nine months. This programme was put on hold and staff 
moved to reduced hours due to Covid related difficulties 
with international travel. The director and another staff 
member retired in 2020. 

Included in the AMRI accounts for 2020 is income of 
€4,125 (2019: €166,750), expenditure of €50,623 
(2019: €90,823) and at the balance sheet date, cash at 
bank amounts to €164,330 (2019: €258,024). Due to 
the Covid - 19 pandemic, classes have been cancelled 
for 2020 and will resume in 2021. The cash at bank of 
€164,330 is deemed sufficient to cover the reduced 
costs for the programme.

Justice Peace Integrity of Creation (JPIC)
Under the direction of the JPIC Co-ordinator, “AMRI is 
an active voice which raises awareness and facilitates 
pastoral responses to situations concerning justice, peace 
and the integrity of creation.” (Strategic Plan). Networking 
with other partners in this field issues are addressed, and 
action taken in relation to housing, migrants, refugees, 
and inter-faith development. Activities were put on hold 
during lockdown. A new JPIC coordinator was recruited 

in July 2020 and following promotion to Secretary 
General in September, another coordinator was recruited 
in December. 

APT (Act to Prevent 
Trafficking)
APT is under the auspices of 
AMRI and has a representative 
on the JPIC committee. The purpose of APT is twofold:

To raise awareness of the issue of trafficking of persons.

To work in collaboration with others for the prevention 
of the trafficking of women and children for sexual 
exploitation.

The 40 or so members of APT meet monthly to plan 
their work, to organise seminars/workshops and to 
continue to engage in various forms of awareness raising. 
It has a wide network of international contacts through 
colleagues working in countries from which trafficked 
people originate. 

Members of APT are religious men and women who 
are directly or indirectly involved in this work. As well 
as addressing the horror of human trafficking, it uses its 
network to help victims and to work on prevention. It 
organises public awareness raising programmes, plans 
annual events and periodic conferences to highlight the 
plight of trafficked people and how to support them. 
Its website is updated regularly by a communication 
specialist. 

In the financial statements as at 31 December 2017, 
APT was shown as third-party monies and was included 
as a liability on the balance sheet. Included in the AMRI 
accounts for 2020 is income of €680 (2019: €1,300), 
expenditure of €6,061 (2019: €11,560) and at the 
balance sheet date, cash at bank amounts to €109,890 
(2019: €115,271). APT has been negatively affected by 
the Covid - 19 pandemic. The cash at bank of €109,890 
is deemed sufficient to cover the reduced costs during 
this period. 

Education
Gospel Leadership is also the goal of the work 
undertaken by AMRI’s part-time Education Co-ordinator 
who has a remit to support members, to have a 
proactive stakeholder engagement in the development 
of new structures for Catholic Education at national 
level and in cross border initiatives on behalf of AMRI’s 
members. The remit also includes a representative 
function as per existing mandates, and communication 
with members, education partners and statutory bodies 
where appropriate. 
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These roles also bring with them engagement in 
particular working groups and dialogue as needed, 
e.g. ethos, formation, resource development, research,  
catechetics, academic certification, curriculum 
consultation, jointly managed schools, mentoring, 
and dialogue between faith, culture and education in 
contemporary Ireland. 

Communications
The AMRI website http://www.amri.ie provides 
information for members and the wider public on many 
aspects e.g. documents such as the Constitution and 
Statutes, Reports from AGMs, information on facilitation 
and chaplaincy fees. A Communications Committee was 
established in late 2019 to offer guidance and direction  
on how AMRI might be a voice for religious on various 
issues. AMRI participates in the Communicators  
for Women Religious organisation. A full time 
communications coordinator was recruited in December 
2020.

Association of Bursars of Religious of 
Ireland (ABRI)
According to its Constitution, ABRI was founded “under 
the auspices of CORI” and is now “under the auspices of 
AMRI.” Membership of ABRI consists of the bursars of the 
various religious congregations and missionary societies 
together with the staffs of the various financial offices. 
ABRI have been included in the accounts for the year 
ended 31 December 2020, showing income of €30 (2019: 
€54,030), expenditure of €857 (2019: €53,557) and bank 
balance of €53,482 (2019: €54,308). ABRI’s income and 
expenditure largely relates to the annual conference 
they hold every year. The annual 3-day conference that 
was due to be held in 2020 has been cancelled due to 
the Covid 19 pandemic. The cash at bank of €53,482 is 
deemed sufficient to cover the reduced costs during this 
period. 

UCESM
AMRI is a member 
of UCESM which is a 
network or Union of 
European Conferences of Major Religious Superiors. It 
consists of 39 National Conferences representing the 
leaders of Apostolic Religious Institutes in 28 European 
countries, with approximately 250,000 religious men and 
women. Its office is based in Brussels and AMRI supports 
this with an annual per capita contribution from its 
members. It holds a bi-annual conference which focuses 
on current international and European affairs. It also 
holds periodic workshops and seminars.

Formal 
relationships 
between AMRI 
and other companies/trusts in keeping 
with its charitable objective include: The 
Irish Episcopal Conference (IEC)
The Irish Catholic Bishops’ Conference is the episcopal 
conference of the Roman Catholic bishops in Ireland. The 
conference meets several times each year in Maynooth 
which is the location of Saint Patrick’s College, Ireland’s 
national seminary. While each bishop is autonomous in 
his own diocese, meetings of the conference give bishops 
a chance to discuss issues of mutual concern, or issues of 
national policy. AMRI representatives meet regularly with 
representatives of the IEC. 

IEC/AMRI Company Co-Sponsorship
AMRI has a strong emphasis on collaboration with 
groups who share its interests. With the Irish Episcopal 
Conference, it co-sponsors two companies COIMIRCE 
(Company No. 465899), the National Board for 
Safeguarding Children in the Catholic Church, and CCSS 
(Company No. 431457), t/a Towards Healing. 

COIMIRCE (National Board for 
Safeguarding Children in the Catholic 
Church in Ireland (NBSCCCI)
This is a company limited by guarantee and not having a 
share capital that was incorporated in December 2008. 
AMRI is a joint member of COIMIRCE with the IEC. 
AMRI, on behalf of its members, makes a payment to 
share the annual running costs of COIMIRCE from the 
annual subscription to AMRI. An accrual for the 2020 
contribution amounted to €83,401 which is shown as an 
expense in the accounts.

The main object of the company is to provide advice, 
services and assistance in the furtherance of the 
development of the safeguarding of children within the 
Roman Catholic Church on the island of Ireland, and 
to monitor compliance with legislation, policy and best 
practice and to report on these activities annually, all 
as comprehensively set out in the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association of the Company. 

CCSS t/a Towards 
Healing 
Towards Healing Counselling 
and Support Service reflects 
the commitment of the Catholic Church in the thirty-
two counties of Ireland to meet the support needs of 

survivors of Religious, Institutional and Clerical Abuse and 
their families. Towards Healing Counselling and Support 
Service was established in February 2011 by the IEC, 
CORI and IMU. The service took over from the Faoiseamh 
service, which provided counselling from 1996 to 2011. 
Now funded largely by congregations and supported by 
the IEC, Towards Healing is committed to supporting 
victims/survivors of Catholic Institutional, Clerical and 
Religious childhood abuse, and their families. It offers 
counselling and other support services, appropriate to 
their needs, in a timely manner which are safe, respectful, 
cost effective, and of the highest quality.

AMRI is a co-sponsor of Towards Healing with the Irish 
Episcopal Conference. A Memorandum of Understanding 
is in place between IEC, AMRI and Towards Healing 
whereby AMRI collect and hold the money on behalf 
of its members for payment to Towards Healing for the 
service it provides. At 31 December 2020, AMRI holds 
€6,723 (2019: €134,552) in the bank which is also shown 
in the creditors of the charity.

Towards Peace
A third entity under the sponsorship 
of AMRI and IEC is Towards Peace, 
which was established to provide a 
safe supportive space, where people 
who have been affected by abuse in a 
Church context can be accompanied 
as they seek their own experience of spiritual peace, 
one step at a time. Towards Peace realises that abuse by 
Church personnel in particular, may have an especially 
traumatic impact on the individual’s spirituality, shattering 
a person’s sense of wholeness, rupturing their inherent 
trust of their own goodness and sacredness, and 
fracturing their relationship with the presence of God 
within themselves and their lives. This kind of abuse, 
which harms a person’s core in the name of ‘God’, can 
create deep lifelong spiritual wounds.

In seeking to offer a pathway ‘towards peace’, they 
respect that the journey of healing from spiritual injuries 
is a painful, complex and unique journey, for each 
person. With the difficulty of this work in mind, Towards 
Peace is committed to the ongoing development of 
responsible practice, including competency, accountability, 
transparency and collaboration.

The Secretary General of AMRI is a member of the 
Towards Peace Oversight Group. AMRI continues to 
support Towards Peace by making an annual payment on 
behalf of its members towards the costs of the part-time 
employee, office space etc. This payment comes from 
the annual membership subscriptions. An accrual for the 

2020 contribution amounted to €12,665, leading to an 
expense in the accounts of €12,665.

Vulnerable Adults
Work is on-going on identifying issues and concerns for 
vulnerable adults, towards developing policy, procedures 
and training. 

Relationships between AMRI and 
other charities
Missio Ireland
Missio Ireland (formerly World Missions Ireland) is Pope 
Francis’ official charity for overseas mission, part of a 
worldwide network of 120 offices, under the coordination 
of the Pontifical Mission Societies in Rome. Missio is the 
Holy Father’s chosen instrument for sharing the Gospel 
and building the Church throughout the world. Missio 
believes in the dignity of all, and supports everyone 
regardless of race, gender, religious or political beliefs. 
AMRI is represented on the board of Missio Ireland.

Charities Institute of Ireland (CII)
AMRI is a member of CII which develops, guides 
and supports members through objectives outlined 
in three strategic pillars - Advocacy, Education and 
Communication. AMRI staff members have attended 
workshops and conferences organised by CII and the 
CEO has provided invaluable guidance for all involved in 
the CPP Programme. 

The WHEEL
AMRI is also a member of 
The Wheel, Ireland’s national 
association for over 19,000 
community, voluntary and 
charitable organisations which 
are an important part of the fabric of Irish society. It 
was established to address the shared challenges of its 
member organisations and to help them develop an 
environment in which community and voluntary activity 
flourishes. They play an essential role in delivering social 
and public services, such as healthcare, education, housing, 
poverty relief, the arts, sport and the protection of our 
environment and heritage. 

Membership of The Wheel offers opportunities to 
work together, provides access to the most up-to-date 
information, dedicated support services, unrivalled 
networking opportunities and the ability to influence 
policymakers. AMRI staff have availed of workshops on 
Charity Regulations and GDPR provided by The Wheel.
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Details of AMRI achievements and 
performance in 2020
This was a difficult year with the Covid-19 restrictions in 
place. Nevertheless, a great deal of work was progressed 
through zoom meetings of the Executive Council and 
Committees including: Towards Healing funding; APT 
meetings; JPIC meetings; Lay Mission meetings, Meetings 
with Dept of Justice on Visas; Vocations Ireland joining 
AMRI in 2021; RFMP on-going work; a New Address 
Guide and Work with congregations on Mother and 
Baby Homes. Work also commenced on a review of 
AMRI’s strategic plan. A Covid Advisory working group 
was established to support the AMRI membership with a 
helpline and webinars to provide up to date information 
and advice. 

 This is the fourth annual report and financial statements 
since the amalgamation of CORI and IMU. The Charity 
made a loss in the year of €(4,893) (2019: €(43,426)). 
Since the year end the Finance & Risk Committee has 
been working on a budget for 2021 and a sustainability 
plan for 2018-2021 in harmony with the Strategic Plan. 
This was brought to the attention of members at the 
2018 AGM. 

Recruitment
A new Secretary General, David Rose was appointed 
on September 1st, 2020. A new JPIC Coordinator, 
Toni Pyke was appointed in December 2020. A new 
Communications Coordinator, Helena Connolly 
appointed in December 2020.

Auditors
The auditors, Keveny Monahan Limited, (Chartered 
Accountants) have indicated their willingness t o continue 
in office in accordance with the provisions of section 
383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

Statement on Relevant Audit Information
In accordance with section 330 of the Companies Act 
2014, so far as each of the persons who are directors at 
the time this report is approved are aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the statutory auditors 
are unaware. The directors have taken all steps that they 
ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and they have established that 
the statutory auditors are aware of that information.

Accounting Records
To ensure that adequate accounting records are kept in 
accordance with Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies 
Act 2014, the directors have employed appropriately 

qualified accounting personnel and have maintained 
appropriate computerised accounting systems. The 
accounting records are located at the company’s office 
at Student Wing, Cypress Grove House, Cypress Grove 
Road, Templeogue, Dublin 6W.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 
____________________ 
and signed on its behalf by:

________________________________
Kathleen McGarvey - Chairperson and President
Director

________________________________
John Hennebry - Vice President
Director

The directors are responsible for preparing the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable Irish law and 
regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under the 
law the directors have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with the Companies Act 2014 
and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, applying Section 1A of 
that standard issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP). 
Under company law, the directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and 
financial position of the charity as at the financial year 
end date and of the net income or expenditure of the 
charity for the financial year and otherwise comply with 
the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are 
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

• state whether the financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the relevant financial 
reporting framework, identify those standards, and 
note the effect and the reasons for any material 
departure from those standards; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the charity will continue in operation.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the 
above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

As explained in note 4, state whether the Charities SORP 
(effective January 2015) has been followed;

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the charity 
keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records 
which correctly explain and record the transactions of the 
charity, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and net income or expenditure of the charity 
to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ 

Annual Report comply with Companies Act 2014 and 
enable the financial statements to be audited. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charity’s website. Legislation in the 
Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 
____________________ 
and signed on its behalf by:

________________________________
Kathleen McGarvey - Chairperson and President
Director

________________________________
John Hennebry - Vice President
Director

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
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Opinion
We have audited the charity financial statements of 
Association of Leaders of Missionaries and Religious 
of Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 which comprise 
the Statement of Financial Activities (incorporating 
an Income and Expenditure Account), the Balance 
Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to 
the financial statements, including the summary of 
significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is Irish law and FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland”, issued in the United Kingdom by the Financial 
Reporting Council, applying Section 1A of that standard 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and 
financial position of the charity as at 31 December 
2020 and of its deficit for the financial year then 
ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2014 and having regard to the 
Charities SORP; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are described below in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the charity in accordance 
with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical 
Standard for Auditors (Ireland) issued by the Irish 
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), 
and the Provisions Available for Audits of Small Entities, 
in the circumstances set out in note 5 to the financial 
statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going  
concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded 
that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the charity’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from 
the date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the 
directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report other than the financial 
statements and our Auditor’s Report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by 
the Companies Act 2014
In our opinion, based solely on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit, we report that:

the information given in the Directors’ Annual Report for 
the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

• We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, are necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the charity 
were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be 
readily and properly audited. In our opinion the financial 
statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the charity 
and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, 
we have not identified any material misstatements in 
the Directors’ Annual Report. The Companies Act 2014 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures 
of directors’ remuneration and transactions required by 
sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not complied with by 
the company. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Respective responsibilities

Responsibilities of directors for the financial 
statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework that give a true and fair view, 
and for such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the charity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, if applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the charity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the IAASA’s website 
at: <www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
a98202dc9c3a/Description of auditors responsibilities for 
audit.pdf.> The description forms part of our Auditor’s 
Report.

The purpose of our audit work and to 
whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the charity’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies 
Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the charity’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an Auditor’s Report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume any responsibility to anyone 
other than the charity and the charity’s members, as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

__________________________________

Philip Monahan
for and on behalf of
KEVENY MONAHAN LIMITED
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Herbert House
18 - 22 Pembroke Road
Dublin 4
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
(Incorporating an Income and Expenditure Account) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the financial year.
All income and expenditure relate to continuing activities.

Approved by the Board of Directors on ____________________ and signed on its behalf by:

________________________________
Kathleen McGarvey - Chairperson and President
Director

________________________________
John Hennebry - Vice President
Director

Notes Unrestricted 
Funds 

2020 
€

Total 
2020 

 
€

Unrestricted 
Funds 

2019 
€

Total 
2019 

 
€

Incoming Resources

 

Charitable activities

- Membership and course fees 6.1 438,918 438,918 674,387 674,387 

Investments 6.2 52 52 51 51

Total incoming resources 438,970 438,970 674,438 674,438 

Resources Expended

Charitable activities 7.1 443,863 443,863 717,864 717,864 

Net incoming/outgoing resources before 
transfers

(4,893) (4,893) (43,426) (43,426)

Gross transfers between funds - - - - 

Net movement in funds for the financial 
year

(4,893) (4,893) (43,426) (43,426)

Reconciliation of funds

Balances brought forward at 16 1,668,729 1,668,729 1,712,155 1,712,155 

1 January 2020

Balances carried forward at 31 December 
2020

1,663,836 1,663,836 1,668,729 1,668,729

BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2020

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject to the small 
companies’ regime and in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland”, applying Section 1A of that standard and the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP).

Approved by the Board of Directors on ____________________ and signed on its behalf by:

________________________________

Kathleen McGarvey - Chairperson and President 
Director

________________________________

John Hennebry - Vice President 
Director

Notes 2020 
€

2019 
€

Fixed Assets

Tangible assets 11 4,909 4,966 

Current Assets

Debtors 13 5,639 17,825 

Cash at bank and in hand 1,832,940 2,035,066 

1,838,579 2,052,891 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 14 (179,652) (389,128)

Net Current Assets 1,658,927 1,663,763 

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 1,663,836 1,668,729 

Funds

Unrestricted designated funds 163,371 169,579 

General fund (unrestricted) 1,500,465 1,499,150 

Total funds 16 1,663,836 1,668,729 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 
€

2019 
€

Cash flows from operating activities

Net movement in funds (4,893) (43,426)

Adjustments for :

Depreciation 3,900 2,939 

Interest receivable and similar income (52) (51)

(1,045) (40,538)

Movements in working capital:

Movement in debtors 12,186 21,556 

Movement in creditors (209,476) 15,987 

Cash generated from operations (198,335) (2,995)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 52 51 

Payments to acquire tangible assets (3,843) (4,056)

Net cash generated from investment activities (3,791) (4,005)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (202,126) (7,000)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2020 2,035,066 2,042,066 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2020 18 1,832,940 2,035,066 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Association of Leaders of Missionaries and Religious of 
Ireland Company Limited by Guarantee is a company 
limited by guarantee incorporated in the Republic of 
Ireland. The registered office of the company is Student 
Wing, Cypress Grove House, Cypress Grove Road, 
Templeogue, Dublin 6W which is also the principal place 
of business of the company. The financial statements have 
been presented in Euro (€) which is also the functional 
currency of the company.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items which are considered 
material in relation to the charity’s financial statements.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis under the historical cost convention, 
modified to include certain items at fair value. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 
102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland”, applying Section 1A of that 
standard and the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP).

The charity has applied the Charities SORP on a voluntary 
basis as its application is not a requirement of the current 
regulations for charities registered in the Republic of Ireland. 
As permitted by the Companies Act 2014, the charity has 
varied the standard formats in that act for the Statement 
of Financial Activities and the Balance Sheet. Departures 
from the standard formats, as outlined in the Companies 
Act 2014, are to comply with the requirements of the 
Charities SORP and are in compliance with section 4.7, 
10.6 and 15.2 of that SORP.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the charity for the year ended 
31 December 2020 have been prepared on the going 
concern basis and in accordance with FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland”, applying Section 1A of that standard 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP).

Fund accounting
The following are the categorises of funds maintained:

Unrestricted funds
General fund’s represent amounts which are expendable at 
the discretion of directors in furtherance of the objectives 
of the company and which have not been designated 
for other purposes. Such funds may be held to finance 
working capital or capital expenditure.

Endowment funds
Endowment funds represent those assets which must be 
held as expandable or permanent endowment by the 
company, principally investments. Income arising on the 
endowment funds can be used in accordance with the 
objects of the company and is included as unrestricted 
income.

Incoming Resources
Voluntary income or capital is included in the Statement 
of Financial Activities when the company is legally entitled 
to it, its financial value can be quantified with reasonable 
certainty and there is reasonable certainty of its ultimate 
receipt. Entitlement to legacies is considered established 
when the company has been notified of a distribution to 
be made by the executors. Income received in advance 
of due performance under a contract is accounted for 
as deferred income until earned. Grants for activities are 
recognised as income when the related conditions for legal 
entitlement have been met. All other income is accounted 
for on an accruals basis.

Resources Expended
All resources expended are accounted for on an accrual’s 
basis. Charitable activities include costs of services and 
grants, support costs and depreciation on related assets. 
Costs of generating funds similarly include fundraising 
activities. Non-staff costs not attributed to one category of 
activity are allocated or apportioned pro-rata to the staffing 
of the relevant service. Finance, HR, IT and administrative 
staff costs are directly attributable to individual activities 
by objective. Governance costs are those associated with 
constitutional and statutory requirements.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or at valuation, less 
accumulated depreciation. The charge to depreciation is 
calculated to write off the original cost or valuation of 
tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, 
over their expected useful lives as follows:

Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 25% Straight line

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020
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Debtors
Debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due 
after any discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the 
amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due. Income 
recognised by the charity from government agencies and 
other co-funders, but not yet received at year end, is 
included in debtors.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand comprises cash on deposit 
at banks requiring less than three months’ notice of 
withdrawal.

Taxation
No current or deferred taxation arises as the charity has 
been granted charitable exemption. Irrecoverable valued 
added tax is expensed as incurred.

The Government has introduced a Value Added Tax (VAT) 
Compensation Scheme for Charities. This scheme aims 
to reduce the VAT burden on charities and to partially 
compensate for VAT paid by the charity. The scheme 
applies to VAT paid on expenditure on or after 1 January 
2018. VAT paid in or prior to 2017 cannot be claimed.

No charge to current or deferred taxation arises as the 
charity has been granted charitable status under Section 
207 and 208 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997, Charity 
No CHY 9301. Irrecoverable value added tax is expended 
as incurred.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The directors consider the accounting estimates and 
assumptions below to be its critical accounting estimates 
and judgements:

Going Concern
The directors have prepared budgets and cash flows for 
a period of at least twelve months from the date of the 
approval of the financial statements which demonstrate 
that there is no material uncertainty regarding the 
company’s ability to meet its liabilities as they fall due, and 
to continue as a going concern. On this basis the directors 
consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements 
on a going concern basis. Accordingly, these financial 
statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying 
amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that may 
arise if the company was unable to continue as a going 
concern.

Useful Lives of Tangible Fixed Assets
Long-lived assets comprising primarily of property, plant 
and machinery and intangible assets represent a portion 
of total assets. The annual depreciation charge depends 
primarily on the estimated lives of each type of asset 
and, in certain circumstances, estimates of residual values. 
The directors regularly review these useful lives and 
change them if necessary, to reflect current conditions. 
In determining these useful lives management consider 
technological change, patterns of consumption, physical 
condition and expected economic utilisation of the assets. 
Changes in the useful lives can have a significant impact 
on the depreciation charge for the financial year. The net 
book value of Tangible Fixed Assets subject to depreciation 
at the financial year end date was €4,909 (2019: €4,966).

4. GOING CONCERN
Like many charities, the company is exposed to the effects 
of the Covid-19 pandemic The impact of covid 19 can 
be seen across all sectors. Recent government actions 
in respect of restriction of movement, social distancing 
guidelines, and limiting certain activities have resulted in a 
significant fall in economic activity. As of now it is unclear 
as to how long these measures will be in effect for, or the 
ultimate impact on the charity. The Directors note that this 
may have a negative impact on the charity but, at the date 
of signing of the financial statements, the impact of this is 
uncertain. This may therefore have a negative impact on 
the results of operations and the net asset value of the 
charity subsequent to the reporting date.

The directors believe that the company is well positioned 
to return to full capacity once the period of uncertainty 
passes. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis.

5. PROVISIONS AVAILABLE FOR  
AUDITS OF SMALL ENTITIES
In common with many other charitable companies of our 
size and nature, we use our auditors to assist with the 
preparation of the financial statements.

6.  INCOME
6.1 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Unrestricted 
Funds 

€

Total 
2020 

€

2020 
 

€

2019 
 

€

Income from Charitable Activities 438,918 - 438,918 674,387

6.2 INVESTMENTS
Unrestricted 

Funds 
€

Total 
2020 

€

2020 
 

€

2019 
 

€

Investment and Other Income 52 - 52 51

7. EXPENDITURE
7.1 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Direct 
Costs 

€

Other 
Costs  

€

Support 
Costs 

€

2020 
 

€ 

2019 
 

€

Costs of Charitable Activities - 245,257 198,606 443,863 717,864

7.2 SUPPORT COSTS
Direct 
Costs 

€

Other 
Costs  

€

Support Costs 
€

Salaries and Wages 150,162 150,162 181,738 

Audit Fees inclusive of VAT 11,368 11,368 4,981 

Accountancy services inclusive of VAT - - 6,254 

Legal and professional inclusive of VAT 37,076 37,076 63,847

 198,606 198,606 256,820

8. ANALYSIS OF SUPPORT COSTS
2020 

€
2019  

€

Salaries and Wages 150,162 181,738 

Audit Fees inclusive of VAT 11,368 4,981 

Accountancy services inclusive of VAT - 6,254 

Legal and professional inclusive of VAT 37,076 63,847 

198,606 256,820

9. NET INCOMING RESOURCES
2020 

€
2019  

€

Net Incoming Resources are stated after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of tangible assets 3,900 2,939 
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10. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
2020 Number 2019 Number

Association of Leaders of Missionaries and Religious of Ireland 5 5

Company Limited by Guarantee

Religious Formation Ministry 3 3 

8 8

The staff costs comprise: 

2020
€

2019
€

Wages and salaries 141,545 172,340 

Social security costs 8,617 8,820 

Pension costs - 578 

150,162 181,738

11. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Fixtures, fittings and 

equipment 
€

Total
€

Cost - 245,257

At 1 January 2020 30,689 30,689 

Additions 3,843 3,843 

At 31 December 2020 34,532 34,532 

Depreciation

At 1 January 2020 25,723 25,723 

Charge for the financial year 3,900 3,900 

At 31 December 2020 29,623 29,623 

Net book value

At 31 December 2020 4,909 4,909 

At 31 December 2019 4,966 4,966 

12. INVESTMENTS
Other investments 

€
Total

€

Cost

At 31 December 2020 63 63 

Provisions for diminution in value:

At 31 December 2020 63 63 

Net book value

At 31 December 2020 - - 

13. DEBTORS
2020  

€
2019  

€

Trade debtors 2,580 12,990 

Other debtors 500 500 

Prepayments 2,559 4,335 

5,639 17,825 

14. CREDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year 

2020
€

2019
€

Trade creditors 47,762 12,440 

Taxation and social security costs 8,724 9,857 

Other creditors 7,269 135,334 

Accruals 115,897 231,497 

179,652 389,128

Other creditors include amounts held on behalf of the funding congregations who are members of the charity which amount to 
€6,723 (2019: €134,552) and credit cards. These amounts are also held in bank balances at the year end. Accruals include amounts 
accrued in respect of Coimirce of €83,401; Towards Peace €12,665 and accrued overhead expenses and governance costs.

15. RESERVES
2020 

€
2019

€

At 1 January 2020 1,668,729 1,712,155 

Deficit for the financial year (4,893) (43,426)

At 31 December 2020 1,663,836 1,668,729 

16. FUNDS
16.1 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN FUNDS

Funds 
€

Funds
€

At 1 January 2019 1,712,155 1,712,155 

Movement during the financial year (43,426) (43,426)

At 31 December 2019 1,668,729 1,668,729 

Movement during the financial year (4,893) (4,893)

At 31 December 2020 1,663,836 1,663,836 
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16.2 ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENTS ON FUNDS
Balance 

1 January 
2020 

€

Income 
 
 

€

Expenditure 
 
 

€

Transfers 
between 

funds 
€

Balance 
31 December 

2020 
€

Unrestricted funds

Act to Prevent Trafficking 115,271 680 6,061 - 109,890 

ABRI 54,308 30 857 - 53,481 

Donations 1,499,150 438,260 436,945 - 1,500,465 

1,668,729 438,970 (443,863) - 1,663,836 

Total funds 1,668,729 438,970 443,863 - 1,663,836 

16.3 ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BY FUND
Fixed assets 
- charity use 

€

Current 
assets 

€

Current 
liabilities 

€

Total 
 

€

Unrestricted designated funds - 163,372 - 163,372 

Unrestricted general funds 4,909 1,675,207 (179,652) 1,500,464 

4,909 1,838,579 (179,652) 1,663,836 

4,909 1,838,579 (179,652) 1,663,836 

17. STATUS
The charity is limited by guarantee not having a share capital.
The liability of the members is limited.

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2020  

€
2019  

€

Cash and bank balances 1,051,291 1,253,469 

Cash equivalents 781,649 781,597 

1,832,940 2,035,066 

19. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Covid-19 is a developing situation in the post year end period with a vaccination roll-out commenced in 2021. The period of 
restrictions on the movement of people designed to slow the spread of this virus are being gradually removed at the date of 
approval of these financial statements.

The directors have reviewed continuity procedures, taken appropriate measures to maintain the safety of our stakeholders and 
are maintaining communications with our customers. The directors are staying up to date with the latest advice and information 
from the national public health bodies and keep plans, policies and procedures actively under review.

20. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on ................................
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